
CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 

Tuesday, May 24, 2016        City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.          16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 
• Proclamation for Summer of Promoting Family and Healthy Lifestyles
• Lakepointe Project Update (Colin Lund, Oakpointe)

PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not the audience
or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per speaker.  Speakers may request 
additional time on a future agenda as time allows.*

RECEPTION FOR OUTGOING COUNCILMEMBER JIM SCOTT 

APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Vouchers (Hendrickson)
C-2. Appoint Voting Delegate(s) for 2016 Association of Washington Cities Annual Business Meeting

(Council) 
C-3. Approve Agreement for Detention Pond Restoration, Drainage Ditch Repair, and Shoulder

Regrading Project (Vondran) 
C-4. Approve Aquatic Center Room Addition Design Services Agreement Amendment No. 1 (Newton)
C-5. Authorize Purchase and Installation of Equipment at Gerry Crick Skate Park (Newton)

REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS 
• Human Services Chair Fran McGregor:  May 12 meeting.
• Parks & Recreation Chair Laura Morrissey:  May 9 special meeting and May 18 regular meeting.
• Arts Chair Lesli Cohan:  May 12 meeting.
• PRePAC Chair Jennifer Harjehausen:  April 27 meeting.
• Planning Chair Bill Judd:  May 5 and May 19 meetings.
• Economic Development Council Co-Chair Jeff Wagner:  April 28 meeting.

PUBLIC HEARING 
1. To Receive Public Testimony on the Proposed Six-Year 2017-2022 Transportation Improvement

Program (TIP) (Lindskov)

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/


CONTINUED BUSINESS 
2. Continue Discussion of Proposed Amendments to Council Policies and Procedures (Springer) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
3. Consider Resolution Acknowledging the Puget Sound Regional Council’s (PSRC) Conditional 

Certification of Covington’s 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan (Mueller/Hart) 
4. 2016 First Quarter Financial Report (Parker) 
 

COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – if needed 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 
 



Consent Agenda Item C-1 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  May 24, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  APPROVAL OF VOUCHERS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  Vouchers:  Electronic fund transfers in the amount of $17.88, dated May 
2, 2016; Vouchers #34099-34099, including electronic fund transfers, in the amount of 
$200,344.11, dated May 6, 2016; Vouchers #34100-34163, including ACH payments, in the 
amount of $586,898.87, dated May 13, 2016; and Paylocity Payroll Checks #1005271446-
1005271455 inclusive, plus employee direct deposits in the amount of $187,877.70, dated May 
20, 2016. 
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION: Not applicable. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance _____ Resolution     X      Motion            Other  

 
Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _________________ 
seconds, to approve for payment Vouchers:  Electronic fund transfers in the 
amount of $17.88, dated May 2, 2016; Vouchers #34099-34099, including 
electronic fund transfers, in the amount of $200,344.11, dated May 6, 2016; 
Vouchers #34100-34163, including ACH payments, in the amount of 
$586,898.87, dated May 13, 2016; and Paylocity Payroll Checks 
#1005271446-1005271455 inclusive, plus employee direct deposits in the 
amount of $187,877.70, dated May 20, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 

1 of 116



2 of 116



3 of 116



4 of 116



5 of 116



6 of 116



7 of 116



8 of 116



9 of 116



10 of 116



11 of 116



12 of 116



13 of 116



14 of 116



15 of 116



16 of 116



17 of 116



18 of 116



  

Consent Agenda Item C-2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: May 24, 2016   
 
SUBJECT:   APPOINT VOTING DELEGATES FOR THE 2016 ASSOCIATION OF WASHINGTON CITIES 

ANNUAL BUSINESS MEETING 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Regan Bolli, City Manager 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  None 

 
PREPARED BY:   Sharon Scott, City Clerk/Executive Assistant 
 
EXPLANATION:  
The Association of Washington Cities (AWC) will hold its annual business meeting this year on 
June 23 in Everett.  Each city selects up to three delegates to vote on AWC policy at the annual 
business meeting held during the conference.  Also at the annual business meeting: 
 

• You elect your board of directors – the people who guide your association’s activities.  

• You debate the hot issues that impact cities.  

• Hear about AWC’s legislative work and what happened during the legislative session 
directly from AWC’s lobbyists. Find out how it impacts your city and what bills survived.  

Delegate selections need to be sent to AWC by June 17, 2015. Mayor Wagner, Councilmembers 
Harto and Mhoon and City Manager Regan Bolli are registered to attend the conference. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
Not Applicable 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
None. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  _____Ordinance  _____ Resolution       X     Motion               Other  
 

Councilmember ___________ moves, and Councilmember _________________ 
seconds to appoint Mayor Wagner and Councilmember Harto as the voting 
delegates to represent the City of Covington at the 2016 Association of 
Washington Cities Annual Business Meeting. 

 
REVIEWED BY:  City Clerk 

 

19 of 116



 Consent Agenda Item C-3 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  May 24, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR 

SERVICES WITH NORDVIND SEWER SERVICE LLC FOR DETENTION 
POND RESTORATION, DRAINAGE DITCH REPAIR AND SHOULDER 
REGRADING PROJECT. 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  

1. Bid Proposal Spreadsheet 
2. Agreement for Services with Nordvind Sewer Service LLC 

 
PREPARED BY:  Dan Wesley, Construction Inspector 
 
EXPLANATION:  
The Public Works Department solicited bids from all the storm drainage facility construction, 
repair and maintenance contractors identified on the Municipal Research and Services Center 
(MRSC) Small Works Roster for detention pond restoration, drainage ditch repair, and 
shoulder regrading work.  Thirteen contractors and two plan centers requested the bid 
specifications packet.  Three companies provided complete bid proposals for the service.   
 
The lowest, responsive bidder is Nordvind Sewer Service LLC.  Their bid is listed below. 
 
Item 
No. Description Bid 

Quantity Unit Unit Rate Total Amount 

1 Ditch Cleaning and Regrading Approx. 
6,854 Linear Feet $3.67 $25,154.18 

2 Shoulder Restoration Approx. 
8,814 Linear Feet $3.67 $32,347.38 

3 Crushed Surfacing Top Coarse (CSTC) 55 Tons $26.89 $1,479.00 
4 Pond Restoration - North Parke  1 Lump Sum   $8,000.00 
5 Pond Restoration - Timber Heights 1 Lump Sum   $8,000.00 

Subtotal $74,980.56 
Sales Tax (8.6%) $6,448.33 

Grand Total (including taxes) $81,428.89 
 
All three bidders bid on the same bid requirements.  There is a large disparity between the three 
bids.  This is in part due to the fact that the range of the engineer’s estimate was not provided to 
the bidders.  Therefore, the bidder’s did not have a “target” to aim for in their bids.  Also, 
Nordvind provided the ditching and shoulder restoration work for us last year as part of a 
contract and did a good job.  They were familiar with the work and wants to continue providing 
that service.  Keep in mind that this work was work that we would normally have King County 
provide for us but they have since indicated that there are services that they will no longer 

20 of 116



provide and this is one of them.  So, this is not typical work that has been contracted out in the 
past and could be another reason for the large variation in the bids.   
 
Staff requests the City Council to award the Detention Pond Restoration, Drainage Ditch Repair 
and Shoulder Regrading Agreement to the lowest, most qualified bidder, Nordvind Sewer 
Service LLC, for an amount not to exceed $90,000 to perform the scope of work as outlined in 
the attached agreement (Attachment 2).  All areas will be measured for final payment. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Reject all bids and re-advertise the project for competitive bids later.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
The contract is not to exceed $90,000.  The 2016 budgeted amount for this activity is $151,023 
(Surface Water Management Fund).   

• Annual Ditch Maintenance  $97,523 
• Annual Facility Rehabilitation $53,500 

 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:              Ordinance             Resolution      X      Motion            Other 
 

Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _______________ 
seconds, to authorize the City Manager to execute an Agreement for 
Services with Nordvind Sewer Service LLC for Detention Pond 
Restoration, Drainage Ditch Repair and Shoulder Regrading project, in 
substantial form as attached. 

 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director 

21 of 116



1 Ditch Cleaning and Regrading

2 Shoulder Restoration

3 Crushed Surfacing Top Coarse (CSTC)

4 Pond Restoration
North Parke (DP21088)

5 Pond Restoration
Timber Heights (DP41052)

$1,479.00

$35,000.00 $56,085.39 $8,000.00

Total Amount Total Amount

$44,070.00 $101,361.00

$5,500.00 $2,485.00

ATTACHMENT 1

Grand Total (including taxes) $273,291.90 $335,007.41 $81,428.89

Detention Pond Restoration, Drainage Ditch Repair and Shoulder Regrading

$32,347.38

Iron Creek 
Construction LLC

LaVelle Vac & 
Drainage LLC

Nordvind Sewer

Total Amount

$137,080.00 $113,091.00 $25,154.18

Item 
No. Description

Sales Tax (8.6%) $21,641.90 $26,529.13 $6,448.33

$30,000.00 $35,455.89 $8,000.00

Subtotal $251,650.00 $308,478.28 $74,980.56

22 of 116



CITY OF COVINGTON AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 1 
Updated 4-07-09 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 

Between: City of Covington and Nordvind Sewer Service LLC 
Project: Detention Pond Restoration, Drainage Ditch Repair and Shoulder Regrading 
Commencing: June 1, 2016 
Terminating: December 31, 2016 
Amount: Not to exceed $90,000 

THIS AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES is entered into this 24th day of May, 2016, 
by and between the City of Covington (“City”), a Washington municipal corporation, and 
Nordvind Sewer Service LLC (“Contractor”), a limited liability company. 

RECITALS: 

A. The City seeks the temporary services of a skilled independent contractor
capable of working without direct supervision to perform detention pond restoration, 
drainage ditch repair and shoulder regrading services in several locations on behalf of 
the citizens of Covington; and 

B. The Contractor has the requisite skill and experience necessary to provide
said services; and 

C. The City has selected the Contractor to perform said services; and

D. The purpose of this Agreement is to establish the terms and conditions
under which the Contractor will perform said services. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and agreements 
set forth herein, the City and the Contractor do hereby agree as follows: 

1. Engagement.  The City, acting pursuant to its vested authority, does
hereby engage the Contractor and the Contractor does hereby agree to perform on 
behalf of the City the services more particularly described herein.   

2. Scope of Services.  Upon written authorization from the City to proceed,
the Contractor shall perform the services described on Exhibit “A,” attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference (“Services”), in a manner consistent with the 
accepted practices for similar services, performed to the City’s satisfaction, within the 
time period prescribed by the City and pursuant to the direction of the City Manager or 
his or her designee.  In performing the Services, the Contractor shall comply with all 
federal, state and local laws and regulations, including, without limitation, all City codes, 
ordinances, resolutions, standards and policies, as now existing or hereafter adopted or 
amended, that may be applicable to its performance.  To the extent required by law, the 
Contractor and all subcontractors shall pay no less than the prevailing wage rate to 
employees performing work under this contract and shall submit a “Statement of Intent 
to Pay Prevailing Wages” and an “Affidavit of Wages Paid” in compliance with RCW 
39.12. 

ATTACHMENT 2

23 of 116



CITY OF COVINGTON AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 2 
Updated 4-07-09 
 

 
 3. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall be in full force and effect for a 
period commencing upon execution and ending upon the completion of the Services, 
but in any event no later than December 31, 2016 (“Term”), unless earlier terminated 
under the provisions of this Agreement.  Time is of the essence in each and every term 
of this Agreement.  
 

4. Compensation and Method of Payment.   
 
  4.1 Compensation.  In consideration of the Contractor performing the 
Services, the City agrees to pay the Contractor an amount not to exceed $90,000. 
 
  4.2. Method of Payment.  Payment by the City for the Services will only 
be made after the Services have been satisfactorily performed, a voucher or invoice is 
submitted in a form acceptable to the City, and the same is approved by the appropriate 
City representative.  Payment shall be made no later than ten days after City Council 
approval of the invoiced amount.   
 
  4.3 First Invoice.  Prior to or along with the first invoice submitted, the 
Contractor shall return to the City a completed “Request for Taxpayer Identification 
Number and Certification”, also known as IRS form W-9. 
 
  4.4 Contractor Responsible for Taxes.  The Contractor shall be solely 
responsible for the payment of any taxes imposed by any lawful jurisdiction as a result 
of the performance and payment of this Agreement. 
 
 5. Warranty.  The Contractor warrants that it has the requisite training, skill 
and experience necessary to provide the Services and is appropriately accredited and 
licensed by all applicable agencies and governmental entities, including but not limited 
to being registered to do business in the City of Covington by obtaining a City of 
Covington business license.   The Contractor shall be responsible for the professional 
quality, technical adequacy and accuracy, timely completion and coordination of all 
plans, designs, drawings, specifications, reports and other services prepared or 
performed pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall perform its work in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement and pursuant to the standards of 
professional care, skill, diligence and competence as are normally exercised by other 
members and/or firms of the profession in good standing working under the same or 
similar conditions and circumstances and in similar communities as the services 
provided by the Contractor under this Agreement.  The Contractor shall be responsible 
for the professional standards, performance and actions of all persons and firms 
performing work pursuant to this Agreement on behalf of Contractor.  The City shall also 
have the right to deduct from payments to the Contractor any costs or damages 
incurred by the City, or which may be incurred by the City, as a result of the Contractor’s 
failure to comply with the requirements of the Agreement or failure to meet the 
professional standard of care and skill, or both. The City’s approval of plans, drawings, 
designs, specifications, reports and other products of the professional services rendered 
hereunder shall not in any way relieve the Contractor of responsibility for the technical 
adequacy or accuracy thereof.  Neither the City’s review, approval, acceptance of, 
and/or payment for any services shall be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights 

24 of 116



CITY OF COVINGTON AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 3 
Updated 4-07-09 
 

under this Agreement or of any cause of action arising out of the performance of this 
Agreement.   
 

6. Ownership and Use of Documents.  Any and all original and copies of 
records, reports, designs, files, documents, drawings, specifications, data or 
information, regardless of form or format, and all other materials prepared or produced 
by the Contractor in connection with the Services shall be the property of the City 
whether the project for which they were created is executed or not. At the termination or 
cancellation of this Agreement, any and all such records or information remaining in the 
possession of the Contractor shall be delivered to the City.  No confidential information 
obtained or created by Contractor shall be disclosed to any person or party other than 
the City without the City’s prior written consent. 
 
 7. Independent Contractor.  It is the intention and understanding of the City 
and the Contractor that the Contractor shall be an independent contractor and that the 
City shall be neither liable nor obligated to pay the Contractor sick leave, vacation pay 
or any other benefit of employment.  The Contractor shall pay all income and other 
taxes due.  Industrial or any other insurance that is purchased for the benefit of the City, 
regardless of whether such may provide a secondary or incidental benefit to the 
Contractor, shall not be deemed to convert this Agreement to an employment contract.  
The Contractor will be solely responsible for its acts and for the acts of its agents, 
employees, sub Contractors or representatives during the performance of this 
Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be considered to create the relation of 
employer and employee or principal and agent between the parties hereto.  The 
Contractor shall have the sole judgment of the means, mode or manner of the actual 
performance of this Agreement.  The Contractor, as an independent contractor, 
assumes the entire responsibility for carrying out and accomplishing this Agreement. 
 
 8. Indemnification.  To the maximum extent permitted by law, Contractor 
shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City and all of its officials, employees, 
principals and agents from all claims, demands, suits, actions, and liability of any kind, 
including injuries to persons or damages to property, which arise out of, are connected 
with, or are due to any errors, omissions or negligent acts of Contractor, its contractor, 
and/or employees, agents, volunteers or representatives in performance of this 
Agreement; provided, however, that if (and only if) the provisions of RCW 4.24.115 
apply to the work and services under this Agreement and any such damages and 
injuries to persons or property are caused by or result from the concurrent negligence of 
Contractor, its contractor or employees, agents, volunteers or representatives and the 
City or its employees, agents, or representatives, the indemnification applies only to the 
extent of the negligence of Contractor, its contractor or employees, volunteers, agents, 
or representatives.  In the event of any such claims, demands, suits, actions, and 
lawsuits, Contractor shall assume all costs of defense thereof, including administrative 
and legal fees incurred by the City, and of all resulting judgments that may be obtained 
against the City or any of its officers, principals, agents, or employees.  If resulting there 
from, any lien is placed upon property of the City or any of its officers, principals, 
agents, or employees, Contractor shall at once cause the same to be dissolved and 
discharged by giving bond or otherwise.  Contractor specifically assumes potential 
liability for actions brought by Contractor’s own employees against the City and for that 
purpose Contractor specifically waives, as respects the City only, any immunity under 

25 of 116



CITY OF COVINGTON AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 4 
Updated 4-07-09 
 

the Worker's Compensation Act, RCW Title 51; and Contractor recognizes that this 
waiver was the subject of mutual negotiation and specifically entered into pursuant to 
the provision of RCW 4.24.115, if applicable. In the event either party incurs attorney's 
fees, costs or other legal expenses to enforce the provisions of this section against the 
other party, all such fees, costs and expenses shall be recoverable by the prevailing 
party. 
 
 The provisions of this Section shall survive any expiration or termination of this 
Agreement. 
 

9. Insurance.  The Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of 
the Agreement, insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damage to property 
which may arise from or in connection with the performance of work hereunder by the 
Contractor, its agents, representatives or employees. Contractor’s maintenance of 
insurance as required by the agreement shall not be construed to limit the liability of the 
Contractor to the coverage provided by such insurance, or otherwise limit the City’s 
recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity. The Contractor shall at a minimum 
obtain and carry the following insurance in such forms and with such carriers who have 
a rating satisfactory to the City:  
 

9.1 Workers' compensation and employer's liability insurance in 
amounts sufficient pursuant to the laws of the State of Washington;  
 

9.2 Commercial general liability insurance covering liability arising from 
premises, operations, independent contractors, personal injury and advertising injury 
and written on ISO occurrence form CG 00 01 with combined single limits of liability not 
less than $1,000,000 each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate for bodily injury, 
including personal injury or death, products liability and property damage.  
 

9.3 Automobile liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired 
and leased vehicles and written on Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 00 01 or a 
substitute form providing equivalent liability coverage with combined single limits of 
liability not less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury, including personal injury 
or death and property damage.  If necessary, the policy shall be endorsed to provide 
contractual liability coverage.   
 

9.4 Professional liability insurance covering any negligent professional 
acts, errors or omissions for which the Contractor is legally responsible and with 
combined single limits of liability not less than $1,000,000 per claim and $1,000,000 
policy aggregate limit for damages sustained by reason of or in the course of operation 
under this Agreement. 
 

The City shall be named as additional insured on all such insurance policies, with 
the exception of professional liability and workers' compensation coverage(s) if the 
Contractor participates in a state-run workers’ comp program.  The Contractor shall 
provide original certificates of insurance and a copy of the amendatory endorsement, 
concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, evidencing such coverage and, at 
City's request, furnish the City with copies of all insurance policies and with evidence of 
payment of premiums or fees of such policies.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers 

26 of 116



CITY OF COVINGTON AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 5 
Updated 4-07-09 
 

with a current A.M. Best rating of not less than A:VII. All insurance policies shall contain 
a clause of endorsement providing that they may not be terminated or materially 
amended during the Term of this Agreement, except after thirty (30) days prior written 
notice to the City.  If the Contractor's insurance policies are "claims made," the 
Contractor shall be required to maintain tail coverage for a minimum period of three (3) 
years from the date this Agreement is actually terminated or upon project completion 
and acceptance by the City.  The Contractor's failure to maintain such insurance 
policies shall be grounds for the City's immediate termination of this Agreement. 
 

The provisions of this Section shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Agreement with respect to any event occurring prior to such expiration or termination. 
 

10. Books and Records.  The Contractor agrees to maintain books, records, 
and documents which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs related 
to the performance of the Services and maintain such accounting procedures and 
practices as may be deemed necessary by the City to assure proper accounting of all 
funds paid pursuant to this Agreement.  These records shall be subject, at all 
reasonable times, to inspection, review or audit by the City, its authorized 
representative, the State Auditor, or other governmental officials authorized by law to 
monitor this Agreement. 
 
 11. Termination.   
 
  11.1 Prior to the expiration of the Term, this Agreement may be 
terminated immediately, with or without cause, by the City.  In the event of termination 
or suspension, all finished or unfinished documents, data, studies, worksheets, models, 
reports or other materials prepared by the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement shall 
be submitted to the City within five days of the date of termination. 
 
  11.2 In the event this Agreement is terminated or suspended, the 
Contractor shall be entitled to payment for all services satisfactorily performed and 
reimbursable expenses incurred to the date of termination. 
 
  11.3 This provision shall not prevent the City from seeking any legal 
remedies it may otherwise have for the violation, default, or nonperformance of any 
provision of this Agreement.  The remedies provided in this paragraph shall be in 
addition to any other remedy the City may have at law or in equity. 
 

12. Discrimination.  In all Contractor services, programs or activities, and all 
Contractor hiring and employment made possible by or resulting from this Agreement, 
there shall be no discrimination by the Contractor or by the Contractor's employees, 
agents, subcontractors or representatives against any person because of sex, age 
(except minimum age and retirement provisions), race, color, creed, national origin, 
marital status or the presence of any disability, including sensory, mental or physical 
handicaps, unless based upon a bona fide occupational qualification in relationship to 
hiring and employment.  This requirement shall apply, but not be limited to the following:  
employment, advertising, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other forms of 
compensation, and selection for training, including apprenticeship.  The Contractor shall 
not violate any of the terms of Chapter 49.60 RCW, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 

27 of 116



CITY OF COVINGTON AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 6 
Updated 4-07-09 
 

1964, the Americans With Disabilities Act, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 
or any other applicable federal, state or local law or regulation regarding non-
discrimination. Any material violation of this provision shall be grounds for termination of 
this Agreement by the City and, in the case of the Contractor's breach, may result in 
ineligibility for further City agreements.   
 
 13. Assignment and Subcontract.  The Contractor shall not assign or transfer 
any interest in this Agreement or subcontract any portion of the services contemplated 
hereunder without the prior written consent of the City. 
 
 14. Conflict of Interest.  The Contractor represents to the City that it has no 
conflict of interest in performing any of the services described herein.  It is recognized 
that the Contractor may or will be performing services during the Term for other parties; 
provided, however that such performance of other services shall not conflict with or 
interfere with the Contractor’s ability to perform the Services.  In the event that the 
Contractor is asked to perform services for a project with which it may have a conflict, 
the Contractor shall immediately disclose such potential conflict to the City.  The 
Contractor agrees to resolve any actual conflicts of interest in favor of the City. 
 

15. Confidentiality.  All information regarding the City obtained by the 
Contractor and designated by the City as confidential in the performance of this 
Agreement shall be considered confidential.  Breach of confidentiality by the Contractor 
shall be grounds for immediate termination of this Agreement. 

  
 16. Non-appropriation of Funds.  If sufficient funds are not appropriated or 
allocated for payment under this Agreement for any future fiscal period, the City will so 
notify the Contractor and shall not be obligated to make payments for services or 
amounts incurred after the end of the City’s current fiscal period.  This Agreement shall 
terminate upon the completion of all remaining services for which funds are allocated.  
No penalty or expense shall accrue to the City in the event that the terms of this 
provision are effectuated. 
 
 17. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including the exhibits attached 
hereto, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject 
matter of this Agreement.  There are no promises, terms, conditions or obligations other 
than those contained herein, and this Agreement shall supersede all previous 
communications, negotiations, representations or agreements, either verbal or written, 
between the parties hereto concerning the subject matter of this Agreement. 
 
 18. Amendment.  This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by 
writing signed by all parties hereto.   
 
 19. No Waiver.  Failure or delay of the City to declare any breach or default 
immediately upon occurrence shall not waive such breach or default.  Failure of the City 
to declare one breach or default does not act as a waiver of the City's right to declare 
another breach or default. 
 
 20. Successors.  Subject to the provisions of paragraph 13 above, this 
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties, their respective 

28 of 116



CITY OF COVINGTON AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 7 
Updated 4-07-09 
 

heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, successors and assigns. 
 
 21. Severability.  Each and every provision of this Agreement shall be deemed 
to be severable.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this 
Agreement shall not affect the other provisions hereof, and the Agreement shall be 
construed in all respects as if such invalid or unenforceable provision were not a part of 
this Agreement.  
 
 22. Notices.  All notices, payments and other communications hereunder shall 
be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if personally delivered or 
mailed, by first class or certified mail, with postage prepaid, 
 
  22.1 if to the Contractor, to: 
 

Nordvind Sewer Service LLC 
   25129 SE Green Valley Road 
   Auburn, WA  98092 
 
or to such other person or place as the Contractor shall furnish to the City in writing; and 
 

22.2 if to the City, to: 
 

   City of Covington 
   16720 SE 271st Street, Suite100 
   Covington, WA  98042 
 
or to such other person or place as the City shall furnish to the Contractor in writing. 
 

Notices and payments shall be deemed given upon personal delivery or, if 
mailed, upon the earlier of actual receipt or three (3) business days after the date of 
mailing. 
 
 23. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with 
the laws of the State of Washington. 
 
 24. Venue.  The venue for any cause of action arising out of this Agreement 
shall be King County, Washington. 
 
 25. Attorney’s Fees.  In the event of any default under this Agreement, the 
substantially defaulting party agrees to pay the substantially non-defaulting party’s 
reasonable expenses which the latter incurs by reason thereof, including but not limited 
to reasonable attorney’s fees, whether with respect to the investigation of such default 
or the determination of the application or the pursuit of remedies with respect thereto, or 
in legal proceedings, or otherwise.  The term “legal proceedings” as used in this 
paragraph shall include all litigation, arbitration, administrative, bankruptcy and judicial 
proceedings, including appeals therefrom. 
 
 26. Headings.  The headings in this Agreement are intended solely for 
convenience of reference and shall be given no effect in the interpretation of this 

29 of 116



CITY OF COVINGTON AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 8 
Updated 4-07-09 
 

Agreement.   
 
 27. Survival of Representations.  The representations and warranties of the 
City and the Contractor contained hereto shall survive indefinitely. 
 
 28. Independent Counsel.  The Contractor acknowledges that the drafter of 
this Agreement is the City’s legal representative to whom the Contractor does not look 
to for any legal counseling or legal advice with regard to this transaction.  The 
Contractor further acknowledges that it has been advised to consult with independent 
legal counsel and has had an opportunity to do so.  By signing this Agreement, the 
Contractor acknowledges that it has consulted with independent legal counsel of its 
choice or has knowingly waived the right to do so.  There shall be no presumption of 
draftsmanship in favor of or implied against any party hereto. 
 

29. Authority.  Each individual executing this Agreement on behalf of the City 
and the Contractor represents and warrants that such individuals are duly authorized to 
execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor or the City. 
 
 
[Signatures included on next page.  This space left intentionally blank.] 
 
// 
 
// 
 
// 
 
// 
 
// 
 
// 
 
// 
 
// 
 
// 
 
// 
 
// 
 
// 
// 
 
// 
 

30 of 116



CITY OF COVINGTON AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 9 
Updated 4-07-09 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day 
and year written above. 
 
CITY OF COVINGTON 
 
 
____________________________________ 
By: Regan Bolli 
Its: City Manager 
 
 
Attest: Approved as to form only: 
 
 
____________________________________ __________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 
 
NORDVIND SEWER SERVICE LLC 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
By: Eric Peterson 
Its: Manager 

31 of 116



CITY OF COVINGTON AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 10 
Updated 4-07-09 
 

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 
 
Site Descriptions: 
1. Approximately 2,000 +/- linear feet on the south side of SE 256th Street from 148th Avenue SE, 

east to approximately the 15300 block.  Approximately 1,200 +/- linear feet on the north side of 
SE 256th Street from the crossing at approximately the 14900 block east to the15300 block. 

2. Approximately 530 +/- linear feet on the west side and approximately 650 +/- linear feet on the 
east side of 156th Avenue SE north from SE 256th Street to the city limit near house number 
25509 156th Avenue SE. 

3. Approximately 80 +/- linear feet on the east side of 180th Avenue SE in front of house number 
24640.  

4. Approximately 850 +/- linear feet on the east side of 180th Avenue SE from the 24300 block 
north to SE 240th Street. 

5. Numerous locations totaling approximately 560 +/- linear feet on 183rd Avenue SE between SE 
240th Street and the end of the street near house number 24244. 

6. Grade and gravel the shoulder only, no ditching is required, for approximately 1,960 +/- linear 
feet on the east side of 180th Avenue SE from SE 261st Street north to the 25200 block. 

7. Approximately 984 +/- linear feet on the north side of SE 256th Street from house number 17660, west 
to house number 17206. 

 
All areas will be measured for final payment. 
 
The City of Covington is also requesting a lump sum quote for refurbishing each of the following 
Detention Ponds: 
1. North Parke Detention Pond #DP21088, located at the SE corner of SE 244th Street and 180th 

Avenue SE. 
2. Timber Heights Detention Pond #DP41052, located in the 20000 block of SE 266th Street. 
 
Scope of Work: 
Contractor will provide all necessary labor, material and equipment to perform the work described 
herein. 

 
• Ditching: 

 
Clean and grade approximately 6,854 +/- linear feet of drainage ditch in order to match existing 
flow lines between culverts.  Grade side slopes as needed to match existing top of ditch.  The 
front side slope shall be no greater than 3:1 and the rear slope shall be no greater than 1:1 per 
Exhibit B.  Expose driveway culvert ends and road crossing culvert ends.  Remove all excessive 
vegetation overhanging or encroaching on the ditch line.  Contractor shall provide necessary 
gravel back fill, as approved by the city, to re-establish grade and side slopes where needed.  
(See Exhibit A) 
 
• Refuse and debris shall be loaded and hauled to a waste site secured by the Contractor 

and shall be disposed of in such a manner as to meet all requirements of state, county, 
and municipal regulations regarding health, safety and public welfare. 

• Contractor shall be responsible for all costs associated with removal and disposal. 
• All work is to be done within the public right of way and not on private property. 
• Contractor shall provide and install sufficient erosion control measures, including 

seeding and covering, as approved by the City, to all disturbed surfaces and the bottom 
of the ditch line. 

32 of 116



CITY OF COVINGTON AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 11 
Updated 4-07-09 
 

 
• Roadside Shoulder Repair and Grading: 

 
Clean and regrade approximately 8,814+/- linear feet of roadside shoulders. 

 
• Remove roadside vegetation that is preventing proper drainage or causing roadway 

deterioration. 
• Contractor shall use a road grader or similar machinery to remove invasive materials. 
• Refuse and debris shall be loaded and hauled to a waste site secured by the Contractor 

and shall be disposed of in such a manner as to meet all requirements of state, county 
and municipal regulations regarding health, safety and public welfare. 

• Contractor shall be responsible for all costs associated with removal and disposal. 
• Contractor shall regrade the roadside to original slope from roadside edge to front slope 

of ditch. 
• Contractor shall install 55 tons of Crushed Surfacing Top Course (CSTC), 2” thick from 

the edge of the asphalt tapered to zero inches at the top of the ditch slope where 
needed.  Total area is approximately 5,000 linear feet x 2 +/- feet wide.  

• Contractor shall insure that the roadway is clean of spoils and debris prior to leaving the 
site. 

• Contractor is responsible for calling for locates of all utilities prior to beginning any work 
within the right of way. 

 
• Pond Cleaning: 

 
• Remove vegetation and sediment build up in specified retention/detention ponds per 

direction of the City. 
• Restore pond to as-built condition. 
• Contractor shall provide and install sufficient erosion control measures, including 

seeding and covering, as approved by the city, to all disturbed surfaces.  
• Refuse and debris shall be loaded and hauled to a waste site secured by the Contractor 

and shall be disposed of in such a manner as to meet all requirements of state, county 
and municipal regulations regarding health, safety and public welfare. 

• Contractor shall be responsible for all costs associated with removal and disposal. 
• Contractor is responsible for calling for locates of all utilities prior to beginning any work 

within the right of way. 
 

33 of 116



34 of 116



Consent Agenda Item C-4  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: May 24, 2016  
 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDER AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE 

AMENDMENT #1 TO THE CURRENT AGREEMENT WITH DAVID A. CLARK 
ARCHITECTS FOR ADDITIONAL CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 
SERVICES   

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Regan Bolli, City Manager 
  
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Agreement for Architecture/Engineering Services 
2. Amendment #1 

 
PREPARED BY:  Ethan Newton, Parks and Recreation Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
On December 22nd, 2015 the city entered into an agreement with David A. Clark Architects for 
the purpose of providing design services for the Covington Aquatic Center room addition 
project. 
 
With the design phase of this project complete, there is now a need for construction management 
services to manage the project through the construction phase of the project. Discussions with 
David Clark have resulted in agreement that his firm may provide these services as described in 
the proposed amendment. 
  
ALTERNATIVES: 
Choose not to agree to the amendment. Not agreeing to the amendment will require selection of 
an alternative method of providing construction management if this project is to be completed. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
This project has a budget of $250,000 and was approved through a 2016 budget decision card. 
Funding sources includes the remainder of a WA Department of Commerce Grant ($242,107), 
and the General Fund ($7,893). This agreement, including the amendment, will utilize funds that 
have been set aside purposefully for the design and construction management portions of the 
project. 
 
The original agreement with David A. Clark Architects was approved under the purchasing 
authority of the city manager in the amount of $25,979. The amendment adds $15,906. The total 
amount equals $41,885 and requires city council approval. 
 
  

35 of 116



CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution       X   Motion         Other 
 

Councilmember __________ moves, Councilmember _____________ seconds, 
to authorize the City Manager to execute the first amendment to the contract 
with David A. Clark Architects, in substantial form as presented. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, Finance Director, City Attorney  

36 of 116



ATTACHMENT 1

37 of 116



38 of 116



39 of 116



40 of 116



41 of 116



42 of 116



43 of 116



44 of 116



Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
AMENDMENT #1 

to  
ARCHITECTURE ENGINEERING SERVICES AGREEMENT 

Between 
The City of Covington and David A. Clark Architects, PLLC 

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT (“Amendment”) is made this              day of May 
2016, by and between the City of Covington, a municipal corporation organized and existing under the laws 
of the State of Washington (the “City”) and David A. Clark Architects, PLLC, an architectural/engineering 
services consultant (the “Contractor”). The City and Contractor are collectively referred to in this 
Amendment as the “Parties”. 

RECITALS 

A. The Parties previously entered into that certain Agreement dated December 22, 2015, Contract No.
1432-15 (the “Agreement”).

B. The Parties now desire to amend the Agreement in order to revise the scope of work and total
contract sum.

C. All conditions set forth in the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect except as modified by
this Amendment.  All capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the
Agreement, unless otherwise defined herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements of the Parties set forth 
in the Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

1. Recitals. The foregoing recitals are true and incorporated herein by this reference as though set forth
in full.

2. Article 2. Scope of Services. Article 2 of the Agreement is hereby amended such that the scope of
services shall be amended to include the work as described in Exhibit 1 attached hereto and fully
incorporated herein by this reference.

3. Article 4.1. Compensation. Article 4.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended such that the contract
sum shall be increased by $15,906 to $41,885.

4. Conflict.  This Amendment is and shall be construed as part of the Agreement.  In case of any
inconsistency between this Amendment and the Agreement, the terms of this Amendment shall be
controlling.

5. Force and Effect.  The Parties hereby ratify and affirm the terms and conditions of the Agreement
and agree that except as modified by this Amendment, the terms and conditions of the Agreement shall
remain unchanged and in full force and effect.

ATTACHMENT 2

45 of 116



 Page 2 of 2 

6. Execution in Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts and as 
executed shall constitute one agreement, binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not 
signatory to the same counterpart. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year first written 
above. 
 
CITY OF COVINGTON    CONTRACTOR 
       David A Clark Architects, PLLC 
 
 
____________________________________  ____________________________________ 
By: Regan Bolli     By: 
Its: City Manager     Its:  
 
 
Attest:       Approved as to form only: 
 
 
____________________________________              ____________________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk    Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 
 

46 of 116



          DAVID A. CLARK
         ARCHITECTS, PLLC
Covington Aquatics Center
Fee proposal - Const Admin Prepared 15-Sep-15

Drafting Proj Mgr Principal Fee
Bidding & Permitting 4,539$         

Bid packages 94.08   164.42  9 189.23 1,703.07 
Bidding time 0 94.08   0 164.42  7 189.23 1,324.61 
Permitting 4 94.08   164.42  6 189.23 1,511.70 

Construction Administration/Observation 11,366.65$  
Pre-Con Mtg 94.08   1 164.42  189.23 164.42 
Construction Meetings 94.08   22 164.42  189.23 3,617.31 
Construction issues 94.08   16 164.42  189.23 2,630.77 
Shops 94.08   6 164.42  14 189.23 3,635.76 
Pay Applications 3 94.08   164.42  1 189.23 471.47 
Punch List 94.08   2 164.42  189.23 328.85 
Close out papers 94.08   2 164.42  1 189.23 518.08 

Total Fixed Fee Contract Amount 15,906$       
Reimbursables

cost plus 10% Plots, Prints, deliveries, etc
Not included:

David A. Clark Architects, PLLC Aquatics Center Proposal CA only 091515 9/18/2015

EXHIBIT 1

47 of 116



Consent Agenda Item C-5  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: May 24, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  AUTHORIZING EXPENDITURE OF FUNDS FOR SKATE BOARD PARK 

EQUIPMENT AND INSTALLATION  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Ethan Newton, Parks & Recreation Director 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Skate Park Design and Cost Estimate 
 
PREPARED BY:  Ethan Newton, Parks and Recreation Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
The Gerry Crick Skate Park, completed in October 2004, consists mainly of a large concrete slab 
with modular features. The equipment has passed its life cycle, is deteriorating and several pieces 
have failed and been removed. Partnering with MultiCare Hospital Covington, the city was 
successful in obtaining a $30,000 King County Youth Sports Facility grant last year for this 
renovation project.  
 
With the skate park being located on 168th Avenue between Mattson Junior High and Kentwood 
High School, the design input included on-site visits at both schools during lunch hours to solicit 
design ideas as well as site visits to the skate park to do the same. In addition to design boards 
and discussion, nearly 100 user and non-user surveys were completed and reviewed. This input 
created a preliminary design which was vetted on March 15th via live webinar featuring the 
design in 3-dimensions with interactive feedback. A final design was then prepared as a result of 
this community engagement, staff input and review and recommendation by the Parks and 
Recreation Commission at their meeting held on March 16th. The final design was presented to 
council at the March 22nd City Council Meeting. Since this time the permitting process has been 
initiated. 
 
Next steps include receiving building permit approval and then manufacturing of the 
components. A community-build installation (supervised by American Ramp Company) is 
planned for summer of this year with several days of opportunity for community members to be 
involved with the construction of the renovated skate park.  
 
City purchasing policy typically requires a competitive bid process for an expenditure of this 
amount, however, the city has entered into a cooperative purchasing agreement with National 
Joint Powers Alliance (NJPA) that allows the city to piggyback on purchasing terms established 
by NJPA. In this particular case, utilizing this cooperative purchasing agreement results in a 
significant discount, including free shipping, making it the preferred purchasing option. 
 
Staff is seeking authorization to utilize funds to purchase and install the equipment using the 
NJPA cooperative purchasing agreement. 
 

48 of 116



FISCAL IMPACT:   
This project has a budget of $120,000 and was approved through a 2016 budget decision card. 
Funding sources include MultiCare Covington donation ($1,000), King County Youth Sports 
Facility grant ($30,000), community-build volunteer labor ($7,500), Parks Fee-in-Lieu ($21,500) 
and General Fund ($60,000). This expenditure (in the amount of $110,721.43) will utilize these 
funds that have been set aside purposefully for the skate board park renovation project. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution     X    Motion          Other 
 

Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to authorize city staff to expend $110,721.43 to purchase equipment 
for the Gerry Crick Skate Park through the National Joint Powers Alliance 
cooperative purchasing agreement. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  Finance Director, City Attorney, City Manager 

49 of 116



This page is the creative property of American Ramp Company. It cannot be copied or redistributed. 

ATTACHMENT 1

50 of 116



This page is the creative property of American Ramp Company. It cannot be copied or redistributed. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

601 McKinley 
Joplin, MO 64801 

Tel: (417) 206-6816 
Toll Free: (800) 949-2024 

Fax: (417) 206-6888 
sales@americanrampcompany.com 

DRAWN BY Chuck Dodge 

DATE 3/16/16 

REP. AGENCY 

American Ramp Company 

REP. NAME 

Josh Willis 

REP. PHONE 

(800) 949-2024 

 

CUSTOMER 
APPROVAL 

DATE 

  

PARK ENCLOSED? Yes 

PRO SERIES   

X SERIES - 

STEALTH SERIES - 

STEALTH CLASSIC 
SERIES 

- 

PROJECT NAME 

Covington Skate Park 

CLICK HERE TO VIEW DESIGN RENDERINGS DESIGN NO. 6154 

51 of 116

mailto:sales@americanrampcompany.com
https://sketchfab.com/americanrampcompany


 

This page is the creative property of American Ramp Company. It cannot be copied or redistributed. 

601 McKinley, Joplin, MO 64801 
Local 417-206-6816 
Fax 417-206-6888 
sales@americanrampcompany.com 

 

Quote # Design # FOB 

03568_CD 6154 Covington, WA 

 

Item Obstacle Height Width Length 
1 Half Pipe Section w/4' Spine 4.0' 4.0' 55.0' 

2 Half Pipe Section w/4' Spine 4.0' 4.0' 55.0' 

3 Half Pipe Section w/4' Spine 4.0' 4.0' 55.0' 

4 Quarter Pipe 4.0' 4.0' 7.0' 

5 Quarter Pipe 4.0' 4.0' 7.0' 

6 Bank Ramp 4.0' 4.0' 9.0' 

7 Bank Ramp 4.0' 4.0' 9.0' 

8 Wedge, Flat, Wedge 1.5' 4.0' 20.0' 

9 Grind Rail, Kinked (Round) 1.5' 2" 14.0' 

10 Wedge, Flat, Wedge 2.0' 6.0' 20.0' 

11 Grind Rail, Kinked (Round) 1.5' 2" 14.0' 

12 Wedge, Flat, Stair 1.5' 4.0' 17.0' 

13 Grindbox 1.0' 4.0' 12.0' 

14 Grindbox (2' Wide) 1.5' 2.0' 12.0' 

15 Grind Rail (Round) 1.0' 2" 20.0' 

16 Skate Bench (Concrete) 1.5' 2.0' 6.0' 

17 Quarter Pipe 5.0' 4.0' 12.0' 

18 Quarter Pipe 5.0' 4.0' 12.0' 

19 Quarter Pipe 5.0' 4.0' 12.0' 

20 Quarter Pipe 3.0' 4.0' 10.0' 

21 Quarter Pipe 3.0' 4.0' 10.0' 

     
 

Subtotal 
 

$95,328.13 
 

 
Framework Enclosures 

 
$9,532.81 

 
 

Freight 
 

*FREE 
 

 
Supervised Installation 

 
$4,766.41 

 
 

NJPA Discount 
 

-$7,673.91 
 

   
  

 
 

TOTAL 
 

$101,953.44 
 

   
  

 
 

8.6% Sales Tax 
 

$8,768.00 
 

   
  

 
 

GRAND TOTAL 
 

$110,721.43 
 

     Notes: 

 *Free freight for NJPA orders. 

 For full install, double the supervised installation price. 

 If your project is subject to prevailing wage or bonding requirements, call for revised quote. 

 

 
 

Purchase through our competitively bid government NJPA contract. 

52 of 116

mailto:sales@americanrampcompany.com


Agenda Item 1 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  May 24, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  PUBLIC HEARING TO RECEIVE TESTIMONY ON THE PROPOSED SIX-

YEAR 2017 – 2022 TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (TIP). 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 
1. 2017 – 2022 TIP Summary Spreadsheet 
2. 2017 – 2022 TIP Map 
3. 2017 – 2022 TIP Project Descriptions 
 
PREPARED BY:  Robert Lindskov, City Engineer 
 
EXPLANATION:   
The city is required by RCW 35.77.010 to annually prepare and adopt a comprehensive 
transportation program for the ensuing six calendar years and to forward a copy of that Six-Year 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) to the Washington State Secretary of Transportation 
by July 31st.  The TIP represents the first six years of the 20-year transportation (street) capital 
improvement program.  The projects contained in the proposed City of Covington Six-Year TIP 
2017 – 2022 are consistent with the transportation projects identified in the Transportation 
Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan adopted January 12, 2016.  
 
As a segment of the public involvement process, the City Council must hold a public hearing to 
receive testimony on the TIP.  This hearing has been properly noticed in the paper of local 
circulation.  The notification was in the Covington Reporter on May 6 and May 13, 2016. 
 
On June 9, 2015, the City Council adopted the 2016-2021 Six-Year Transportation Improvement 
Program in Resolution No. 15-04.  This adoption included the removal of the Jenkins Creek Park 
Bridge project which was completed in the fall of 2015 and the removal of a completed Citywide 
Intersection Safety Improvements project. The TIP we are presenting tonight remains relatively 
unchanged from last year (see attachments for details), with the addition of CIP 1145.  This 
project is the rather critical and time sensitive Little Soos Creek culvert replacement project on 
SE 256th Street between 168th Avenue SE and 173rd Avenue SE. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
Direct Staff to modify the draft 2017 – 2022 Six-Year TIP. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
The fiscal impact of each proposed project is indicated in the draft Six-Year TIP 2017 – 2022.  
The specific revenue source(s) for the city portion of the funds for each project is determined 
each year during the budget process.  Additional revenues are needed to fund these projects.  
Possible sources are grants, appropriations and traffic impact fees. 
 

53 of 116



CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution            Motion      X   Other 
 

HOLD PUBLIC HEARING.  PROVIDE INPUT TO STAFF. 
 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director 

54 of 116



1 2 3 4 5 6

Total 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Priority City CIP #, Project Name,  Termini,  Major Class of Work Phase Funded Funds 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

1 1127, Dgn XX 0
SE 272nd Street (SR 516) R-o-W XX 923 923

Jenkins Creek to 185th Place SE Const 11,691 5,000 6,691

Widen to 5 lanes & reconstruct, Sidewalks, New stream crossing Total Cost 12,614 5,923 6,691 0 0 0 0

2 1201, Dgn 3,590

204th Avenue SE R-o-W 686 Schedule driven by development

SE 272nd Street to SE 256th Street Const 22,861 (May be built in portions)

Widen to full City Standard, Sidewalks, Bicycle Lanes, Planted Medians Total Cost 27,136

3 1086, Dgn 0

164th Avenue SE R-o-W 88 88

SE 264th Street to SE 269th Street Const 799 799

Pedestrian Improvements, 5' asphalt walkway, drainage swale Total Cost 887 887 0 0 0 0 0

4 1128, Dgn 1,299 1,299

SE 272nd Street (SR 516) R-o-W 1,708 1,708

185th Place SE to 192nd Avenue SE Const 7,920 7,920

Widen to 5 lanes & reconstruct, Sidewalks, New signal. Total Cost 10,927 0 1,299 1,708 7,920 0 0

5 1063, Dgn 1,008 1,008

SE 272nd Street (State Route 516) R-o-W 1,440 1,440

160th Avenue SE to 164th Avenue SE Const 10,650 10,650

Signal modifications, add turn lanes, stream crossing. Total Cost 13,098 0 1,008 1,440 10,650 0 0

6 1145, Dgn 494 494

SE 256th Street R-o-W 350 350

168th Avenue SE to 173rd Avenue SE Const 4,950 4,950

Widen & reconstruct, Sidewalks, New stream crossing Total Cost 5,794 494 350 4,950 0 0 0

7 Portions of 1056 and 1149 Dgn 498 498

SE 256th Street and 180th Avenue SE R-o-W 242 242

Safety improvements,Sidewalks Const 5,316 5,316

Signal modifications, add right turn lane. Total Cost 6,056 0 0 498 242 5,316 0

8 Town Center 1 Dgn 1,550

SE 276th Street R-o-W 6,981 Schedule driven by development

168th Place SE to SE Wax Road Const 4,650 (May be built in portions)

New Route, New Alignment, Type II Roadway Total Cost 13,181

9 Town Center 2 Dgn 579

172nd Avenue SE R-o-W 989 Schedule driven by development

SE 275th Street to SE 276th Street Const 1,737 (May be built in portions)

New Route, New Alignment, Type I Roadway Total Cost 3,305

10 1124, Dgn 1,131 1,131

185th Place SE Extension R-o-W 5,339 5,339

Wax Road/180th Avenue SE Roundabout to SE 272nd Street Const 11,617 11,617

New Route, New Alignment, Access management. Total Cost 18,087 0 0 1,131 5,339 11,617

3.0% Annual Construction Cost Increase TOTAL 111,085 7,304 9,348 8,596 19,943 10,655 11,617

Expenditure Schedule in Thousands

CITY OF COVINGTON

2017 to 2022 Transportation Improvement Program 

Summary

ATTACHMENT 1

55 of 116



SR 18

SE 272ND ST

SE 256TH ST

RAMP

18
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

16
4T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE WAX RD

SE 240TH ST

15
6T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 261ST ST

20
4T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 251ST ST

16
8T

H 
PL

 S
E

156TH PL SE

COVINGTON WAY SE

17
0T

H 
PL

 S
E

160TH AVE SE

17
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 279TH PL

SE 267TH PL

SE 267TH ST

19
7T

H P
L S

E

17
2N

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 262ND PL

19
9T

H 
PL

 S
E

TIMBERLANE WAY SE

19
1S

T P
L S

E

194
TH

 AV
E S

E

20
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 270TH PL

SE 244TH ST

16
1S

T P
L S

E

19
3R

D 
PL

 S
E

SE 271ST ST

SE 265TH ST

SE 266TH PL

SE 244TH PL

SE 277TH PL

FRONTAGE RD

21
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

17
2N

D 
PL

 S
E

SE 262ND ST

17
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

15
2N

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 246TH ST

16
9T

H 
PL

 S
E

19
6T

H 
AV

E 
SE

17
7T

H 
PL

 S
E

16
6T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 259TH ST

SE 254TH PL

SE 260TH ST

SE 268TH ST

18
5T

H 
PL

 SE

186TH PL SE

15
1S

T P
L S

E

SE 269TH ST

TIMBERLANE DR SE

18
4T

H 
AV

E 
SE

16
7T

H 
PL

 S
E

16
1S

T A
VE

 S
E

18
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

17
5T

H 
WA

Y 
SE

SE 270TH ST

SE 247TH ST

19
9T

H A
VE

 SE

17
9T

H 
PL

 S
E

17
6T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 264TH ST

170TH WAY SE

17
6T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 260TH PL

17
5T

H 
AV

E 
SE

159TH AVE SE

15
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 259TH PL

18
3R

D 
PL

 S
E

17
1S

T P
L S

E

19
5T

H P
L S

E

19
2N

D 
PL

 S
E

SE 249TH PL

17
1S

T A
VE

 S
E

SE 253RD PL

188TH AVE SE

SE 266TH ST

SE 263RD PL

19
2N

D 
AV

E 
SE

20
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 268TH PL

19
5T

H 
CT

 S
E

17
8T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 271ST PL

15
0T

H 
PL

 S
E

21
1T

H 
AV

E 
SE16

5T
H 

PL
 S

E

SE 256TH PL

189TH AVE SE

SE 258TH ST

159TH PL SE

18
6T

H 
AV

E 
SE

20
8T

H 
AV

E 
SE

18
5T

H 
AV

E 
SE

16
2N

D 
AV

E 
SE

18
4T

H 
PL

 S
E

17
4T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 263RD ST

16
8T

H 
AV

E 
SE

21
2T

H 
AV

E 
SE

19
6T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 254TH ST

SE 245TH PL

SE 246TH PL

SE 247TH PL

SE TIMBERLANE BLVD

SE 241ST PL

SE 261ST CT SE 261ST PL

19
0T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 252ND PL

20
6T

H 
AV

E 
SE

15
5T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 269TH PL

16
9T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 264TH PL

SE 263RD CT

SE 280TH PL

SE 255TH PL

SE 251ST PL

183RD CT SE

SE 258TH PL

186TH CT SE

SE 242ND ST

SE 241ST ST

16
3R

D 
PL

 S
E

SE 262ND ST

19
6T

H A
VE

 SE

SE 264TH ST

16
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 260TH ST

SE 269TH ST
SE 268TH ST

SE 260TH ST

RAMP

SE 265TH ST

16
8T

H 
AV

E 
SE

18
8T

H 
AV

E 
SE

RAMP

SE 258TH ST

SE 267TH PL

20
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 268TH ST

SE WAX RD

16
5T

H 
PL

 S
E

16
8T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 260TH ST

SE 268TH ST

SE 266TH ST
SE 267TH PL

SE 255TH PL

17
2N

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 262ND ST

SE 259TH ST

SE 263RD PL

SE 262ND PL

SE 263RD ST

SR 18
SE 266TH ST

SE 268TH ST

18
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 270TH ST

16
8T

H 
PL

 S
E

19
2N

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 252ND PL

SE 264TH ST
SE 263RD PL

16
8T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 266TH ST

19
1S

T P
L S

E

16
7T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 269TH ST

SE 267TH ST

SE 261ST ST

17
6T

H 
AV

E 
SE

20
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

Pipe
 La

ke

1124

112811271063

1149

1056

This map is intended for planning purposes only. 
Information was compiled from the most accurate 
sources generally available.

6-Year Transportation
Improvement Projects 2017-2022

City of Covington

Created By: Shawn Buck 05/09/2016

.

O:\Covington_GIS_Library\PROJECT_FOLDER\Public_Works
\Streets\TIP_Maps\6_Year_TIP\6_Year_TIP.mxd

1201

TC1

TC2

1086

1145

ATTACHMENT 2

56 of 116

sbuck
Rectangle



City of Covington 

2017-2022 6 Year TIP 

Project Descriptions 

Capital Improvement Project Priorities 

1. CIP 1127 SE 272nd Street between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE  

This project is to widen and reconstruct a portion of SE 

272nd Street between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE.  

This project will include the crossing of Jenkins Creek 

with a new structure for the stream, widening the street 

from 2-lanes to 5-lanes including curb and gutter, 8’ 

sidewalks, access control features, landscaping and 

provisions for u-turns.   

2. CIP 1201 204th Avenue SE between SE 272nd Street SE and SE 259th Street

The new roadway connection will provide overall 

benefits to the citywide street system by providing 

more options for vehicles traveling between SE 

272nd Street and SR 18.  This collector arterial will 

be widened to two 12-foot lanes, one 14-foot turn 

lane/median, and two 5-foot wide bike lanes.  Each 

side of the roadway will also include a curb, a 

gutter, a 5-foot landscape buffer, and a 5-foot 

sidewalk. 

3. CIP 1086 164th Avenue SE between SE 264th Street and vicinity SE 269th Street

This project will install a 5’ separated walkway on the 

east side of 164th Avenue SE between SE 264th Street 

and just south of SE 269th Street.  This project will also 

install a drainage swale with underdrainage to convey 

and treat surface water. Once completed, this will 

provide a continuous separated walkway/sidewalk from 

Kentwood High School to the Covington Library.   

ATTACHMENT 3

57 of 116



City of Covington 

2017-2022 6 Year TIP 

Project Descriptions 

 

 

 

4. CIP 1128 SE 272nd Street between 185th Place SE and 192nd Avenue SE 

 

This project is to widen and reconstruct a portion of 

SE 272nd Street between 185th Place SE and 192nd 

Avenue SE.  This project will widen the street from 

2-lanes to 5-lanes including curb and gutter, 8’ 

sidewalks, access control features, landscaping and 

provisions for u-turns.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. CIP 1063 SE 272nd Street between 160th Avenue SE and 164th Avenue SE 

 

This project provides for design and future 

construction of additional turn lanes, channelization, 

and signal modifications.  Widening SE 272nd Street 

will require modifications to the existing stream 

crossing at the intersection.  Project length is 800 

feet.  Construct street section consistent with the 

existing SR 516 section including illumination, 

landscaping, 10’ wide sidewalks with street trees in 

planting wells. 

 

 

 

 

6. CIP 1145 SE 256th Street between 168th Avenue SE and 173rd Avenue SE 

 

This project replaces the culvert crossing over Little 

Soos Creek and widens SE 256th to 5 lanes.  The 

project includes curb, gutter, 8’ sidewalk, 

landscaping, bike lanes, illumination and 

undergrounding of utilities.  Project length is about 

1500 feet.  This project will complete a gap in our 

pedestrian/non-motorized transportation system. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

58 of 116



City of Covington 

2017-2022 6 Year TIP 

Project Descriptions 

 

 

 

7. CIP 1056 SE 256th Street between 172nd Avenue SE and 180th Avenue SE 

CIP 1149 180th Avenue SE between SE 256th Street and SE Wax Road (N)  

 

Portions of these two larger CIP projects (see map) are 

being combined to provide improvements adjacent to 

the new fire station at SE 256th Street and 180th 

Avenue SE.  The improvements will include widening 

the north side of SE 256th Street from 180th Avenue 

SE to 176th Avenue SE to match the section at 168th 

Avenue SE.  The frontage along 180th Avenue SE will 

be widened from the intersection to Crestwood 

Elementary School. 

 

 

 

 

8. Town Center 1     SE 276th Street between 168th Place SE and SE Wax Road 

 

This is a new route; new alignment roadway that will 

support the Town Center vision and meet the Town 

Center Design Guidelines.  The schedule of these 

projects will be primarily driven by development and 

may be constructed in portions.     

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

9. Town Center 2   171st Avenue SE (Main Street) between SE 275th Street and SE 276th Street 

 

This is a new route; new alignment roadway that will 

support the Town Center vision and meet the Town 

Center Design Guidelines.  The schedule of these 

projects will be primarily driven by development and 

may be constructed in portions.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

59 of 116



City of Covington 

2017-2022 6 Year TIP 

Project Descriptions 

 

 

 

 

10. CIP 1124 185th Place SE Extension - Wax Road/180th Ave SE to SE 272nd Street 

 

This project connects SE Wax Road/180th Avenue SE 

to SE 272nd Street via a new route and alignment 

designated as 185th Place SE.  The street section will 

consist of a 3-lane urban arterial standard with curb, 

gutter and 8’ sidewalks, landscaping strips, 

illumination and stormwater infrastructure.  The 

project will also include crossing Jenkins Creek.  The 

actual route and alignment will be determined during 

design.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COMPLETED 2016 

 

 

1. CIP 1029  Citywide Intersection Safety Project – 10 Locations   

 

This project is part of the WSDOT City Safety 

Program that is focused on intersection safety. 

The project will do safety improvements to 10 

locations throughout the city. These 

improvements vary at each location but may 

include rechannelization, adding warning 

beacons and pavement markings; improving 

sight distance, and crosswalks; upgrading signs, 

sidewalks and ADA access points. The 

intersections are SE 272nd Street / 168th Place 

SE, SE 272nd Street / 172nd Place SE, 168th 

Place SE /169th Place SE, SE 270th Place / 174th Avenue SE, SE 256th Street / 180th 

Avenue SE, SE 267th Street / 192nd Avenue SE, SE 261st Street / 180th Avenue SE, 

SE 268th Street / 164th Avenue SE, SE Wax Road / 180th Ave SE and SE 256th / 170th 

Ave. SE. This project is fully funded and scheduled to be completed in 2014.   

 

 

 

60 of 116



Agenda Item 2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: May 24, 2016 

 
SUBJECT:  CONTINUE DISCUSSION OF PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO COUNCIL 

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Regan Bolli, City Manager 
   
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Revised v.3 of Proposed Council Policies and Procedures  
 

PREPARED BY:  Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 
EXPLANATION: 
 
1. Overview 
At the council’s last regular meeting, staff presented and the council thoroughly reviewed the 
revised second version of the amendments to the newly titled Council Policies and Procedures. 
Staff has incorporated council’s feedback from that meeting into the attached “v.3” of the 
proposed Council Policies and Procedures. 
 
This agenda item continues to be for discussion purposes only. Upon the council’s review of the 
edits included in v.3 of the document, and training or instruction requirements for new council 
members, staff will make any necessary edits to the document. Barring any major amendments 
that require additional council review and discussion, at the next council meeting on June 14, 
2016, staff will present the final draft of the Council Policies and Procedures, along with the 
adopting resolution for council action. If desired, this final action may be placed as a consent 
agenda item. 
 
2. Elected Official Training 
During the discussion at the last council meeting, council discussed the possibility of requiring 
certain training or instruction for new council members. Pursuant to council’s request, staff 
researched available training opportunities for local elected officials. Upon review, staff found 
that the training opportunities provided by MRSC, AWC, and the State Attorney General’s 
Office are the most thorough and helpful. Identified trainings include the following: 
 
• AWC Elected Officials Essentials (Webinar) 
http://www.awcnet.org/TrainingEducation/Calendar/Electedofficialsessentialsworkshop.aspx 
 
This workshop is held each December. Participants interact virtually with trainers and peers and 
spend time together examining real-world municipal scenarios. The morning session covers basic 
legal obligations and liabilities, and statutory role and responsibilities. The afternoon session 
explores what makes work at city hall meaningful, and how leadership contributes to a greater 
good and a healthier community. 
 
• Office of the Attorney General 
http://www.atg.wa.gov/OpenGovernmentTraining.aspx 

61 of 116



 
The Office of the Attorney General provides model rules for complying with the open public 
records laws, and technical assistance and training on open public records and open public 
meetings laws. The office also provides access to other free online resources for open 
government training.  The city may also contact the office to seek in-person training assistance. . 

 
• MRSC Resources 
http://mrsc.org/Home/Training.aspx 
In addition to the above training options, MRSC provides invaluable reference materials for new 
and existing elected officials. Such materials include: 
  

• Knowing the Territory – Basic legal guidelines for local officials 
• The Mayor & Councilmember Handbook – Roles of mayors and city councilmembers 
• Local Government Policymaking Process – Guidelines for how to create good public 

policies 
 

• AWC Certificate of Municipal Leadership (CML) Program 
http://www.awcnet.org/TrainingEducation.aspx 
 
To receive the Certificate of Municipal Leadership, you must earn 30 CML credits and attend at 
least one workshop in each of the four areas below. A minimum of 5 credits in each core area is 
highly recommended. 

• Roles, responsibilities and legal requirements (R) 
• Public sector resource management (P) 
• Community planning and development (C) 
• Effective local leadership (E) 

You earn credits by attending an AWC workshop or conference that offers CML credits, and are 
then automatically enrolled. AWC tracks your credits, and you can check your progress online. 
The cost of the workshops and conferences varies; some are free and you may expense the cost 
of those that have a fee. The timeline is at your own pace; as soon as you have attended 
workshops and conferences totaling at least 30 credits and have attended at least one workshop 
in each of the 4 core areas you will receive your certificate. 
 
• City Orientation for New Council Members 
In addition to the above, city staff does provide a half-day orientation for new council members. 
At this orientation, staff provides an overview of each department, the budget process, and 
governing state statutes and laws, including the Open Public Meetings Act and the Public 
Records Act. This orientation is not currently required under the council rules. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:  None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  None 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution         Motion     X    Other 

 
DISCUSSION ITEM ONLY—NO ACTION REQUIRED 

 
REVIEWED BY: City Manager; City Attorney; City Clerk 

62 of 116



Page 1 of 21 

COVINGTON CITY COUNCIL 
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

--DRAFT ONLY— 
v. 3

Changes Between v2 and v3 Shown in Track Changes 

1.0 AUTHORITY & EFFECT OF RULES 

1.1 Rules Established. 
These policies and procedures constitute the official policies and rules of procedure for the Covington 
City Council (the “Rules”). These Rules shall be in effect upon adoption by resolution of the council and 
until such time as new or amended rules are adopted by resolution.  

1.2 Suspension of Rules.  
Any provision of these Rules not governed by state law or city ordinance may be temporarily 
suspended by a two-thirds vote of those members present and voting. A two-thirds vote is five (5) of 
seven (7) votes, four (4) of six (6) votes, four (4) of five (5) votes, and three (3) of four (4) votes. 

1.3 Review & Amendment of Rules.  
It is the intent of the city council that these Rules be periodically reviewed as needed, but no less than 
every two (2) years. Accordingly, these Rules should be considered in the month of January of every 
even-numbered year and may be considered at any other time that council shall choose to review 
them. These Rules may be amended, or new rules adopted, by a majority vote of the council, at any 
time.  

1.4 Effect/Waiver of Rules. 
These Rules are adopted for the sole benefit of the members of the city council to assist in the orderly 
conduct of council business. These Rules do not grant rights or privileges to members of the public or 
third parties. Failure of the city council to adhere to these Rules shall not result in any liability to the 
city, its officers, agents, and employees, nor shall failure to adhere to these Rules result in invalidation 
of any council act.  

2.0 CITY COUNCIL: GENERAL POWERS & RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.1 Overview 
The powers of the city council are to be used for the benefit of the community and its residents to 
provide for the health, safety, and general welfare of its residentscitizens. The Covington City Council 
values personal honesty and integrity, open and accessible government, fiscal responsibility, fair 
treatment of individuals, and commitment to customer service. 

ATTACHMENT 1

63 of 116



Page 2 of 21 
 

 
It is important to note that the council acts as a body. No member has any extraordinary powers 
beyond those of other members. Although the mayor has additional ceremonial and presiding officer 
responsibilities, all members are equal when establishing policies, voting, and performing their council 
duties. 
 
Policy is established as a majority vote of the council. While individual members may disagree with 
decisions of the majority, a decision of the majority binds the council to a course of action. 
Councilmembers should respect the decision of the majority and are expected to follow adopted 
council rules, policies, and procedures.  
 
It is the city manager’s responsibility to ensure the policy of the council is enacted. Actions of staff to 
pursue the policy direction established by a majority of the council do not reflect any bias against 
councilmembers who held a minority opinion on an issue.  
 
2.2 Council and Administration 
Councilmembers act as the legislative body with authority to enact laws, adopt the city’s budget, 
determine service priorities, make public policy, and appoint citizen boards, commissions, and 
committees (RCW 35A.13.230). The city manager and city staff are the executive/administrative 
branch.  
 
In order to uphold the integrity of the council-manager form of government, and to provide proper 
checks and balances, councilmembers refrain from becoming directly involved in the administrative 
activities of the city.  
 
Except for purposes of inquiry, councilmembers should communicate with city staff primarily through 
the city manager and shall not give orders to any city staff without the city manager’s authorization. 
The city manager may choose to establish formal or informal norms for routine council-staff 
interaction and staff support of council committees. In addition, council may fully and freely discuss 
with the city manager in open session anything pertaining to appointment and removals of city staff 
and city affairs.  
 
2.3 Authority and Responsibilities of the City Council 
It is within the authority and responsibility of the city council to: 
 

2.3.1 Establish Policy. 
o Adopt goals and objectives 
o Establish priorities for public services 
o Approve/amend the operating and capital budgets 
o Approve intergovernmental agreements and certain contracts 
o Adopt resolutions 

 

64 of 116



Page 3 of 21 
 

2.3.2 Enact Local Laws. 
o Pass ordinances 
o Call for special elections, when necessary 

 
2.3.3 Appointments and Supervise Officials. 

o Appoint city manager (RCW 35A.13.050) 
o Evaluate performance of city manager 
o Appoint hearing examiner 
o Establish advisory boards and commissions 
o Make appointments to advisory boards and commissions 
o Provide direction to advisory bodies 
o Appoint councilmembers to council committees, intergovernmental boards and 

commissions, and external committees 
 

2.3.4 Provide Public Leadership 
o Represent constituents to promote representative governance 
o Communicate the city’s vision and goals to constituents 
o Represent the city’s interests at regional, county, state, and federal levels 
o Determine best course of public policy 

 
2.4 ADDITIONAL RULES, POLICIES, & PROCEDURES 
In addition to these Rules, the council shall also comply with the following rules, policies, and 
procedures, if  adopted by the city: 
 

2.4.1 City Officials’ Code of Ethics 
2.4.2 Public Records Policy 
2.4.3 Technology Use Policy 
2.4.4 Travel Policy (as provided for in the Employee Handbook) 
2.4.5 Vehicle Use Policy (as provided for in the Employee Handbook) 

 
3.0 CITY COUNCIL: ROLES & ADMINISTRATION  

 
3.1 Role of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem 
 

3.1.1 Mayor 
 

 Presiding Officer. The mayor serves as the presiding officer of the council and acts as 
chair at all meetings of the council. The mayor does not possess any power of veto.  
 

 Ceremonial Representative. The mayor is responsible to act as the city council’s 
ceremonial representative at public events and functions. He or she shall have no 
regular administrative duties.  

65 of 116



Page 4 of 21 
 

 
 Proclamations. The mayor is vested with the authority to initiate and execute 

proclamations as a ceremonial commemoration of an event or issue. Proclamations are 
not statements of policy and do not require the approval or action of council.  

 
 Signing of City Documents. The mayor, unless unavailable, shall sign all ordinances, 

resolutions, interlocal agreements, contracts, and any other documents that have been 
adopted by the city council and require an official signature; except when the city 
manager has been authorized by council action to sign documents. In the even the 
mayor is unavailable, the mayor pro tem may sign such documents.  
 

 In addition to the above powers conferred to the role of mayor, the council member 
serving as mayor shall have all the rights, privileges, and immunities of a member of the 
council.  

 
3.1.2 Mayor Pro Tem. In the mayor’s absence, the mayor pro tem assumes all of the above 

noted responsibilities and rights of the mayor. 
 

3.2 Election of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem 
 
3.2.1 The council shall elect a mayor and mayor pro tem for a term of two (2) years and shall 

remain in office until the next election of a mayor and/or mayor pro tem, unless earlier 
removed or vacated. 
 

3.2.2 The motion to elect the mayor and mayor pro tem will be placed on the agenda of the 
first council meeting of even-numbered years.  
 

3.2.3 Nomination and Appointment Process. 
 

 The nomination and appointment process outlined in this subsection shall be used to 
fulfill the positions of both mayor and mayor pro tem. The council shall first fulfill the 
position of mayor, and only upon fulfillment of that position should the council fulfill the 
position of mayor pro tem. 
 

 Each council member may nominate one person for a given office. Nominations do not 
require a second vote.   
 

 The council members nominating and the nominees will have an opportunity to make 
public comment before voting commences. 
 

 Voting shall commence in the order nominations were made. Council members will be 
asked for a voice vote and a raise of hands. As soon as one of the nominees receives a 

66 of 116



Page 5 of 21 
 

majority vote of the whole city council (four votes), then the chair will declare him/her 
appointed. No votes will be taken on the remaining nominees.  
 

 A tie vote results in a failed nomination and the chair will call for nominations again and 
repeat the process until a single nominee receives a majority vote of the whole city 
council.  
 

 If none of the nominees receives a majority vote, the chair will call for nominations 
again and repeat the process until a single nominee receives a majority vote of the 
whole city council. 
 

3.2.4 Removal. A supermajority vote (5) shall be required to approve a motion to remove the 
mayor or mayor pro tem from office for cause. 
 

3.2.5 Temporary Absence. In the temporary absence of the mayor, the mayor pro tem shall 
perform the duties and responsibilities of the mayor with regard to conduct of meetings 
and emergency business.  

 
3.2.6 Permanent Vacancy. In the event the mayor or mayor pro tem is unable to serve the 

remainder of the term or resigns, the city council shall appoint a new mayor or mayor 
pro tem following the same procedure in this section.  
 

3.3 Swearing-In Newly Elected Council Members 
New council members shall be sworn in by a judge or the city clerk either: 
 Up to ten (10) days prior to the day they are scheduled to assume their office; or 
 At the first meeting of the council in January; or 
 At any other time after their term of office is scheduled to begin. 

 
3.4 Filling a Council Vacancy.  
 

3.4.1 Resignation Process. A written resignation must be submitted to the city council. 
 The notice of resignation should provide for an effective date and the resignation will be 

effective as of that selected date. 
 The council accepts the resignation by a motion and majority vote of the whole council. 

 
3.4.2 Procedure. If a vacancy occurs in the office of a councilmember, the council will follow 

the procedures outlined in RCW 42.12.070 in addition to those included in these Rules.  
 

67 of 116



Page 6 of 21 
 

3.4.3 Vacancy Notice and Application. In order to fill the vacancy with the most qualified 
person available until an election is held, the council will widely distribute and publish a 
notice of the vacancy, the procedure by which the vacancy will be filled, and an 
application form. The council will draw up an application form to aid the council's 
selection of the new councilmember. 

 
3.4.4 Interview Process. Those candidates selected by council will be interviewed by the 

council during a regular or special council meeting open to the public. The order of the 
interviews will be determined by drawing the names; in order to make the interviews 
fair, applicants will be asked to remain outside the council chambers while other 
applicants are being interviewed. Applicants will be asked to answer questions posed by 
each councilmember during the interview process. The interview process will be 
designed to be fair and consistent. Each candidate will then be allowed two (2) minutes 
for closing comments. Since this is not a campaign, comments and responses about 
other applicants will not be allowed.  

 
3.4.5 Deliberation and Selection. The council may recess into executive session to discuss the 

qualifications of all candidates. Nominations, voting and selection of a person to fill the 
vacancy will be conducted during an open public meeting.  
 

3.5 Council Committees.  
 
3.5.1 Committee of the Whole. In addition to regular council meetings, the entire council 

may meet for study or special project purposes as a Committee of the Whole. A meeting 
of the council as Committee of the Whole must have a quorum of council members 
present.  

 
3.5.2 Council Committees. The city council may establish standing committees of three (3) or 

fewer council members as policy review and discussion arms of the city council as a 
whole for any special purpose, task, or time frame. Council committees may study issues 
and develop recommendations for consideration by the city council as a whole but may 
not take binding action on behalf of the city council as a whole. Should a quorum of 
council members attend any council committee meeting that was not publically noticed, 
that meeting shall be immediately adjourned and reconvened at a time when three (3) 
or fewer council members are in attendance or the meeting is properly noticed as a 
special meeting of the council pursuant to these Rules.  

 

68 of 116



Page 7 of 21 
 

3.6 Council Member Appointments.  
 
3.6.1 To Council Advisory Bodies. The city council may appoint three (3) or fewer council 

members to represent the city council as a whole on city advisory bodies. 
 

3.6.2 Liaison/Representative Appointments. The city council may appoint individual council 
members, as required, to represent the city council as a whole to external advisory 
bodies or groups. 

 
4.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: TYPES; GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
4.1 Open Public Meetings Act.  
All council meetings shall comply with the requirements of RCW Section 42.30, the Open Public 
Meetings Act (OPMA). All regular council meetings, special council meetings, and any meetings of the 
committee of the whole (including study sessions) or council committee meetings of a quorum of 
council members shall be open to the public.  
 
4.2 Types of Council Meetings. 
 

4.2.1 Regular Council Meetings. The council shall hold regular meetings on the second and 
fourth Tuesday of each month. The council will not hold meetings on any other day of 
the month, unless otherwise noticed. All regular meetings will begin at 7:00 p.m., unless 
otherwise noticed.  

 
Should any regular council meeting occur on a legal holiday, on a general or primary 
election day, or special election called within the City of Covington, the meeting shall be 
held at the same hour and place on the following business day. 

 
4.2.2 Special Meetings. Any council meeting other than the regular council meeting. Notice of 

special meetings shall be given pursuant to state law (at least 24 hours in advance). The 
mayor, or in the absence of the mayor the mayor pro tem, or any three (3) members of 
council may schedule a special meeting, subject to the notice and call requirements 
prescribed by state law and/or city ordinance or rule. 

 
4.2.3 Study Sessions / Workshops. Any meeting, either called as a special meeting at which 

the council may discuss, investigate, review, or study matters of city business with city 
staff for informational purposes. Study sessions or workshops shall be noticed as special 
meetings of the council. Final action on any matter shall not occur during a study session 
or workshop.  

 

69 of 116



Page 8 of 21 
 

4.2.4 Annual Strategic Planning Summit. The council shall hold an annual strategic planning 
summit on the last Saturday in January of each year. 

 
4.2.5 Emergency Meetings. A special council meeting called without the 24hr notice. If, by 

reason of fire, flood, earthquake, or other emergency there is a need for expedited 
action by the council to meet the emergency, the mayor may provide for a meeting site 
other than the regular meeting site and the notice requirements of RCW 42.30 shall be 
suspended during such emergency. The minutes shall indicate the reason for the 
emergency.  

 
4.3 Meeting Place.  
Council meetings will be at a time and place as council directs, except that regular and/or special 
meetings at which final actions on resolutions or ordinances will take place shall always be held within 
the boundaries of the City of Covington. 

 
4.4 Meeting Cancellation.  
Any council meeting may be canceled by a majority vote or consensus of the council. The mayor or 
mayor pro tem may cancel a council meeting for lack of agenda items.  
 
4.5 Public Notice of Meetings.  
The city shall comply with the provisions of RCW 35A.12.160 regarding public notice of all council 
meetings. 

 
4.6 Quorum.  
At all council meetings, a majority of the whole city council membership (four members, or five 
members for the passage of ordinances, budget items, and appropriations) shall constitute a quorum 
for the transaction of business, but a lesser number may recess or adjourn from time to time and may 
request the attendance of absent members. 
 
4.7 Attendance, Excused Absences.  
 

4.7.1 RCW 35A.12.060 provides that a council member shall forfeit his or her office by failing 
to attend three (3) consecutive regular meetings of the council without being excused 
by the council. Members of the council may be so excused by complying with this 
subsection.  

 

70 of 116



Page 9 of 21 
 

4.7.2 The council member shall contact the mayor, mayor pro tem, city manager, or city clerk 
via either in person or via telephone or email prior to the start of the council meeting 
and state the reason for his or her inability to attend the meeting. The above authorized 
person who receives such a notice of absence shall promptly send written notice of said 
absence to the other individuals listed above either by forwarding a received email, or 
sending a separate email to indicate that a notice of absence, including the reason, was 
received in person or via telephone (e.g. if a council member calls the mayor to give 
notice of their absence, the mayor will then promptly send an email to the mayor pro 
tem, city manager, and city clerk stating that he/she received a notice of absence from 
the given council member and the reason stated for such an absence).  

 
4.7.3 The mayor, mayor pro tem, city manager, or city clerk shall convey the message to the 

council. Following roll call, the presiding officer shall inform the council of the member’s 
absence, and state the reason for such absence.  

 
4.7.4 A motion to excuse the council member shall be non-debatable. Upon passage of such 

motion by a majority of members present, the absent member shall be considered 
excused and the clerk will make an appropriate notation in the minutes.   
 

4.7.5 Council members shall only be required to be excused from regular council meetings 
and shall not be required to be excused from all other meetings of the council, 
including, but not limited to, study sessions, special meetings, council committee 
meetings, and the annual summit. However, as a courtesy, council members should also 
notice their absence for all other council meetings in a similar manner as set forth above 
for regular meetings. 

 
4.8 Attendance of City Officers & Employees 
The city manager, or his or her designee, shall attend all meetings of the city council as a whole, 
including regular meetings, special meetings, study sessions, and executive sessions, except if the 
council meets in executive session with the city attorney on matters of potential conflict for the city 
manager or to review the performance of the city manager. 
 
Any city officer or employee shall have the duty when requested by the city manager to attend council 
meetings and shall remain for such time as the city manager may direct. 
 

71 of 116



Page 10 of 21 
 

4.9 Executive Sessions.  
 
4.9.1 The council may hold executive sessions, from which the public may be excluded, for 

those purposes set forth in Chapter 42.30.110 RCW. Before convening to an executive 
session, the presiding officer shall announce the purpose of the session and the 
anticipated time when the session will be concluded. No formal action or decision of the 
council may be taken in executive session. 
 

4.9.2 If the council, after executive session, has provided direction or consensus to city staff 
on proposed terms and conditions for any confidential or privileged issue, all contact 
with any other party shall be made by the designated city staff representative handling 
the issue. Council members should consult with the city manager and/or city attorney 
prior to discussing such information with anyone other than other council members, the 
city attorney, or city staff designated by the city manager.  Any council member having 
any contact or discussion with any person other than those listed above on any such 
confidential or privileged issue shall make full disclosure to the city manager and council 
in a timely manner. 

 
4.9.3 Pursuant to RCW 42.23.070, council members shall keep confidential all written 

materials and verbal information provided to them during executive sessions, to ensure 
that the city’s position is not compromised. Confidentiality also includes information 
provided to council members outside of executive sessions when the information is 
considered to be exempt from disclosure under the Revised Code of Washington.  

 
4.10 Adjournment 
Regular, special, and committee of the whole meetings of the council shall adjourn at or before 10:00 
p.m. The adjournment time established hereunder may be extended upon approval of a motion by a 
majority of the council members present. At any time during any council meeting, any council member 
may call for a “Point of Order” to review agenda priorities. 
 
4.11 Audio Recordings of Council Meetings 
The city clerk, or designee, shall make and keep audio recordings of all regular, special, and committee 
of the whole council meetings, except those meetings or portions of meetings conducted in executive 
session, or unless a motion is passed to suspend audio recording of a meeting. All recordings and 
related records of all city council meetings, except as provided for referenced above, shall be retained 
by the city pursuant to the state Public Records Act and the city’s public records policy. 
 
4.12 Council Meeting Minutes. 
 

4.12.1 The city clerk, or designee, shall take minutes at all meetings of the city council in 
accordance with state and local statutory requirements.  

 

72 of 116



Page 11 of 21 
 

4.12.2 Proceedings will be entered into a minute book constituting the official record of the 
council.  

 
4.12.3 The minutes shall be made available for public inspection. Unless a council member 

requests a reading of the minutes of a council meeting, such minutes may be approved 
without reading if the clerk has previously furnished each member with a copy thereof. 

 
4.12.4 City council meeting minutes may be corrected by the city clerk if in error, but shall not 

otherwise be revised without a majority affirmative vote of the whole council 
membership at a regularly scheduled council meeting.  

 
5.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: AGENDAS & CONDUCT OF BUSINESS 
 
5.1 Setting Agenda.  
Pursuant to RCW 35A.13.080, the city manager shall set the council agenda for the meeting, following 
the suggested order of business listed herein, whenever practical. When necessary, the mayor, with 
the consent of the council, may change the order of business. No legislative item not on the agenda 
shall be voted upon; a motion to suspend the rules would be necessary to add a legislative item to the 
agenda, in order to facilitate a vote on a legislative item not listed in the published agenda. 
 
5.2 Placement of Items on the Agenda.  
An item for a council meeting may be placed on the agenda by any of the following methods: 
 

5.2.1 A majority vote or consensus by the council; 
 

5.2.2 By the city manager; or 
 

5.2.3 Upon the joint request of two (2) or more council members, a proposed agenda item 
shall be placed under the Future Agenda Items of a regular council meeting agenda for 
the entire council to consider and discuss whether the item shall be included as a New 
Business item on a future council meeting agenda. A request for the addition of a Future 
Agenda Item shall be emailed to the city manager or city clerk by the requesting council 
members no later than 12:00pm on the Wednesday before a regular council meeting. 
The names of the requesting council members shall be placed on the agenda next to the 
Future Agenda Item.  

 
Upon discussion of the Future Agenda Item, it shall require an affirmative vote of a 
majority of theat least three (3) council members present to add the item as a New 
Business item to a future regular council meeting agenda. If the item will require the use 
of staff resources, then the council shall defer scheduling of the item to the city 
manager.  

 

73 of 116



Page 12 of 21 
 

5.2.4 A councilmember may not utilize city staff for the preparation of an item for the agenda 
without prior direction of the city manager.  

 
5.3 Agenda Item Priority. 

 
5.3.1 Legally required advertised public hearings will have a higher priority over other agenda 

items scheduled for convenience rather than for statutory or other reasons. 
 

5.3.2 Agenda items that are continued from one meeting to another will have preference on 
the agenda to the extent possible. 

 
5.4 Adding an Item to a Published Agenda.  
An item may be placed on a regular council meeting agenda after the agenda is closed and the notice 
published if the presiding officer or city manager explains the necessity and receives a majority vote of 
councilmembers present at a public meeting.  
 
5.5 Staff Agenda Reports.  
Staff agenda reports shall be in a standard format approved by the city council.  
 
5.6 Consent Calendar.  

The city manager in consultation with the presiding officer, shall place matters on the consent 
calendar that: 
 
5.6.1 have been previously discussed or policies have been set by the council; or 

 
5.6.2 are based on the information delivered to members of the council, by the 

administration, can be reviewed by a council member without further explanation; or 
 

5.6.3 are so routine or technical in nature that passage is likely.  
 

5.6.4 Ordinances, resolutions, and motions are all eligible to be placed on the consent 
calendar. 
 

5.6.5 The motion to adopt the consent calendar shall be non-debatable and have the effect of 
moving to adopt all items on the consent calendar. Since adoption of any item on the 
consent calendar implies unanimous consent, any member of the council shall have the 
right to remove any item from the consent calendar. If any matter is withdrawn, the 
presiding officer shall place the item at an appropriate place on the agenda for 
deliberation at the current or a future council meeting. 

 
 

74 of 116



Page 13 of 21 
 

5.7 Order of Business for Regular Meetings.  
The suggested order of business for each regular council meeting should be as follows: 

Call to Order 
Roll Call, Flag Salute 
Approval of Agenda 
Public Communication 
Public Comment 
Approve Consent Agenda:  

Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings and Approval of Payroll/Claims 
Reports of Commissions 
Public Hearing 

Continued Business 
New Business 
Future Agenda Items 
Council/Staff Comments 
Public Comment  
Executive Session 
Adjournment 

 
5.8 Oder of Business for Study Sessions.  
The suggested order of business for each study session should be as follows: 

Call to Order 
Approval of Agenda 
Discussion 
Adjournment 
 

5.9 Public Comment.   
 

5.9.1 During regular meetings of the council, public comments will be invited during the 
public comment portion(s) of the agenda. The public is also invited at any time to 
provide written comment on any non-quasi-judicial or legislative matter. It is 
encouraged that such written comments be filed with the city clerk by 12:00pm of the 
Thursday preceding the meeting.  If written comments are given at the meeting, the 
presenter should provide ten (10) copies for the council, city manager, city clerk, and 
city attorney. 

 
5.9.2 In addition, public oral testimony may be taken on other non-quasi-judicial or legislative 

matters as they arise during the course of the meeting agenda. However, once a motion 
is pending, debate is limited to council members and no further public comment will be 
taken, unless a council member requests further testimony. 

 

75 of 116



Page 14 of 21 
 

5.9.3 Public comments should be limited to no more than four (4) minutes per person. No 
person may donate time to another person. If additional time is needed, a person may 
request that the council place an item on a future agenda as time allows. 

 
5.9.4 If many members of the public would like to comment on a particular topic, the 

presiding officer may encourage or require potential commenters to consolidate their 
comments and choose a limited number of spokespersons to speak on behalf of the 
group. If potential commenters are required by the presiding officer to consolidate their 
comments and choose a spokesperson, the presiding officer may allow the 
spokesperson(s) to speak for a longer designated period of time. 

 
5.9.5 Members of the public may not share or give speaking time to other commenters.  

 
5.9.6 The presiding officer may limit the total time for public comments and may, if many 

members of the public want to comment about a particular issue, continue the matter 
to another time.  

 
5.10 Public Hearing. 
The Public Hearing is a formal opportunity for individualscitizens to give their views for consideration in 
the legislative or policy-decision-making process. In addition, public hearings are required on quasi-
judicial actions, which determine the legal rights, duties, or privileges of specific parties.  The following 
rules shall be observed during public hearings: 
 

5.10.1 Legislative/Information Gathering Public Hearings 
 Open Public Hearing—The presiding officer will open the public hearing. 
 Staff Presentation—For an initial presentation of background information from a 

city department, a city board, commission, or committee, no more than twenty (20) 
minutes will be allowed, unless authorized by the presiding officer. 

 Citizen Public Comments—Comments will be limited to four (4) minutes per speaker.  
Any individual or group may request of the council additional time to speak if such 
request is submitted in writing no later than the day prior to the subject meeting.  
Such request shall be subject to council approval.  The presiding officer may allow 
additional time for receipt of written testimony, when needed. 

 Staff Comments—Additional staff comments may be requested by Council following 
citizen public comments. 

 Close Public Hearing—At the conclusion of Citizen Public or Staff Comments, the 
Presiding Officer will close the public hearing. 

 Council Deliberation 
 Council Action 
 Timekeeper—The city clerk shall be the timekeeper. 

 

76 of 116



Page 15 of 21 
 

5.10.2 Quasi-Judicial Public Hearings 
No Public oral testimony shall be given on quasi-judicial matters outside of a public 
hearing except on matters of procedure. If a quasi-judicial hearing is on the agenda, the 
public will be informed by the city attorney as to what state law permits as to public 
comments. In addition, quasi-judicial hearings will be conducted in conformance to 
procedures outlined in other city ordinances. 

 
6.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURES 
 
6.1 Parliamentarian / Governing Procedure.  
The city attorney, in consultation with the city clerk, shall decide all questions of interpretations of 
these Rules and other questions of a parliamentary nature which may arise at a council meeting. All 
cases not provided for in these Rules shall be governed by the current edition of “Robert's Rules of 
Order”, a copy of which is maintained in the office of the city clerk. In the event of a conflict, these 
Rules shall prevail.  
 
6.2 Presiding Officer. The presiding officer shall: 

 
6.2.1 Observe and enforce all rules adopted by the council; 

 
6.2.2 Call all meetings to order and keep to the order of business; 

 
6.2.3 Preserve order and decorum in the council chambers in accordance with these Rules; 

 
6.2.4 Recognize councilmembers in the order in which they request the floor, giving every 

councilmember who wishes an opportunity to speak, and control discussion in an orderly 
manner, require speakers to speak to the question; and  

 
6.2.5 Put motions to a vote and announce the outcome.  

 
6.2.6 The presiding officer may participate in all deliberations of the council in the same 

manner as any other members and is expected to vote in all proceedings, unless a 
conflict of interest exists. The presiding officer may not move an action, but may second 
a motion. 

6.3 Motions. 
6.3.1 Motion Required. Prior to discussion of an action item, a councilmember should make a 

motion, which is seconded by another councilmember, on the topic under discussion. If 
the motion is not seconded, it dies.  
 
 Motions that do not require a second: nominations, withdrawal of a motion, request 

for a roll call vote, and point of order.  
 

77 of 116



Page 16 of 21 
 

 Motions shall be clear and concise and not include arguments for the motion.  
 

6.3.2 Request for Written Motions. Motions shall be reduced to writing when requested by 
the Presiding Officer or any member of the council.  All resolutions and ordinances shall 
be in writing. 

 
6.3.3 Discussion on Motion. After a motion has been made and seconded (if required), 

councilmembers may discuss their opinions on the issue prior to the vote. If they wish to 
do so, they may state why they will vote for or against the motion.  
 

6.3.4 Withdrawal of Motion. A motion may be withdrawn by the maker of the motion, at any 
time, without the consent of the council.  

 
6.3.5 Motion to Amend. A motion to amend is defined as amending a motion that is on the 

floor and has been seconded, by inserting or adding, striking out, striking out and 
inserting, or substituting. A motion to amend requires a second and a majority to pass.  

 
6.3.6 Motion to Table.  

 Non-debatable.  
 Requires a majority to pass.  
 If the motion to table prevails, the matter may be "taken from the table" only by 

adding it to the agenda of a future meeting, at which time discussion can continue.  
 If an item is tabled, it cannot be reconsidered at the same meeting.  

 
6.3.7 Motion to Postpone to Time Certain.  

 Debatable. 
 Amendable. 
 Requires a majority to pass.  
 The motion being postponed must be considered at a later time in the same meeting 

or a specific future meeting.  
 May be reconsidered at the same meeting.  

 
6.3.8 Motion to Postpone Indefinitely.  

 Debatable. The merits of the main motion may also be debated.  
 Not amendable. 
 Requires a majority to pass. 
 May be reconsidered at the same meeting.  

 
6.3.9 Calling the Question.  

 A successful motion to call for the question shall close debate on the main motion. 
 Non-debatable.  
 Requires a second and two-thirds (2/3) vote.  

78 of 116



Page 17 of 21 
 

 Debate on the main motion is reopened if the motion to call the question fails.  
 

6.3.10 Motion for Reconsideration.  
 After the motion has been decided, any councilmember who voted in the majority 

(i.e. if a motion passed, a councilmember who voted in favor of the motion; or, if the 
motion failed, a councilmember who voted against the motion) may move for a 
reconsideration of the motion.  

 The motion for reconsideration must be made at the same or next regular council 
meeting.  

 Non-debatable. 
 Not amendable. 
 Requires a majority to pass.  

 
6.3.11 Council Consensus. When the council concurs or agrees with an item that does not 

require a formal motion, the mayor will summarize the council's consensus at the 
conclusion of the discussion.  

 
6.4 Voting on Motions. 

 
6.4.1 Motion Restated. When the discussion is concluded, the presiding officer shall repeat 

the motion prior to voting. The city council votes on the motion as restated.  
 

6.4.2 Voice Vote. Unless otherwise provided for by statute, ordinance, resolution, or these 
Rules, all votes shall be taken by voice, except that at the request of any councilmember, 
a random roll call vote shall be taken by the city clerk. 

 
6.4.3 Declaring Motion Passes or Fails. If the vote is unanimous, the presiding officer shall 

state that the motion has been passed unanimously according to the number of 
councilmembers present, such as "7-0" or "6-0." If the vote is not unanimous, the 
presiding officer shall state the number of councilmembers voting in the affirmative and 
the number voting in the negative and whether the motion passes or fails.  

 
Once the vote has been taken, the discussion is closed. It is not necessary for 
councilmembers to justify or explain their vote. If they wish to make their positions 
known, this should happen during the discussion preceding the vote. 
 

6.4.4 Tie Votes. In case of a tie vote on any motion, the motion shall be considered lost and 
fails. 

 

79 of 116



Page 18 of 21 
 

6.4.5 Abstention. Although it is the duty of each councilmember to vote on final action items, 
he or she cannot be compelled to vote, and thus he or she may abstain. The 
councilmember shall indicate their abstention to the presiding officer prior to any 
discussion begins on the motion. The abstaining council member shall then not be 
permitted to participate in the discussion or vote on the motion. The abstention shall be 
recorded by the city clerk and not included in the vote tally.  
 

6.4.6 Recusal. If a councilmember has a conflict of interest or an appearance of fairness 
question under state law, the councilmember may recuse themselves from the issue and 
shall leave the council chambers during discussion and voting on the issue. That 
councilmember shall be considered absent when voting occurs.  

 
6.4.7 Silence. If a councilmember is silent on a vote (i.e. is present and does not abstain or 

recuse themselves pursuant to this section but also does not cast a vote for the motion), 
it shall be recorded as an affirmative vote.  
 

6.4.8 Proxy Votes. No vote may be cast by proxy.  
 

7.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: MISCELLANEOUS  
 
7.1 General Decorum.  

 
7.1.1 Councilmembers. While the council is in session, the members must preserve order and 

decorum, and a member shall neither, by conversation or otherwise, delay or interrupt 
the proceedings or the peace of the council, nor disrupt any member while speaking, nor 
refuse to obey the orders of the council or the Presiding Officer, except as otherwise 
provided in these Rules. 
 

7.1.2 Public. Any person making personal or slanderous remarks or who becomes disorderly 
while addressing the council or while in the council chamber while the council is in 
session shall be asked to leave by the Presiding Officer. 

 
7.2 Dissents and Protests. Any council member shall have the right to express dissent from or 

protest against any ordinance or resolution of the council and have the reason therefore entered 
in the minutes. 

 
7.3 Forms of Address. The mayor shall be addressed as “Mayor (surname),” “Your Honor,” or 

Mr./Madam Mayor.  Members of the council shall be addressed according to their preference as 
“Councilmember (surname),” Councilor (surname),” or Mr./Mrs./Miss/Ms. (surname). 

 

80 of 116



Page 19 of 21 
 

7.4 Seating Arrangement. The mayor shall sit at the center of the council, and the mayor pro tem 
shall sit adjacent to the mayor.  Other council members are to be seated in a manner acceptable 
to the council.  If there is a dispute, seating shall be in position order. 

 
8.0 CITY COUNCIL ADVISORY BODIES 

 
The council’s advisory bodies provide an invaluable service to the city. Their advice on a wide variety of 
subjects aids the council in the decision-making process.  Effective citizen public participation is an 
invaluable tool for local government. 

 
8.1 Establishment of Advisory Bodies; Dissolution.   

 
8.1.1 The city council may establish advisory bodies (including, but not limited to commissions, 

committees, boards, and task forces) by resolution or, if required by state statute, 
ordinance. The enacting resolution (or ordinance) will set forth the size of each advisory 
body, which will be related to its duties and responsibilities, the term of office of its 
members; a statement of its purpose and function; and time lines, if relevant to the 
scope of work.  

 
8.1.2 Limitations on Authority. All advisory bodies established by the city council are advisory 

to the city council and are not authorized to take independent action representing the 
city with other agencies or bodies. 

 
8.1.3 OPMA. All advisory bodies shall comply with the requirements of the Open Meetings Act 

(RCW Section 42.30). 
 

8.1.4 Dissolution. The council may dissolve any advisory body that, in their opinion, has 
completed its working function or for any other reason. Such dissolution shall be by 
resolution (or ordinance, if the body was originally established by ordinance) of the city 
council.  
 

8.2 Appointment to Advisory Bodies.   
 
8.2.1 Notice of Vacancies. Unless otherwise directed by the council, the city clerk’s office shall 

advertise notice of vacant positions on council advisory bodies so that any interested and 
qualified individual may submit an application.  
 

8.2.2 Applicant Requirements. Applicants are urged to be residents of the City of Covington, 
but applications from individuals living outside of the corporate boundaries of the city 
may be considered if authorized by the resolution or ordinance establishing the advisory 
body. 

 

81 of 116



Page 20 of 21 
 

8.2.3 Applicant Interviews and Appointment.  
 

 The city council will endeavor to interview all applicants for an available advisory 
position; provided that the mayor and mayor pro tem may limit the number of 
applicants interviewed by the council as a whole based upon a failure to meet the 
basic qualifications as set forth in the applicable resolution or ordinance or when the 
gross number of applicants is so large as to be an undue burden on the council’s 
schedule.  
 

 All interviews for available advisory positions shall be scheduled at either a special or 
committee of the whole council meeting. For the purpose of any special or 
committee of the whole council meeting in which advisory body interviews are the 
only agenda item, the council may proceed with calling the meeting to order and 
conducting said interviews so long as three (3) or more council members are 
present.  
 

 The council shall also interview applicants seeking reappointment for the same 
advisory position, unless otherwise determined by a majority of the council. 

 
 Appointments to advisory bodies will be made during a regularly scheduled council 

meeting.  
 

 Upon appointment, new appointees to advisory bodies will receive a briefing by the 
applicable commission, committee, or task force chairperson and/or city staff 
regarding the duties and responsibilities of the members of their respective advisory 
body. 
 

8.3 Removal of Appointees. Appointees to advisory bodies may be removed prior to the expiration 
of their term of office, for any reason, by a supermajority vote (five council members) of the city 
council as a whole. 
 

8.4 Exit Interviews.  The council shall may annually appoint a committee of three (3) or fewer council 
members to conduct exit interviews of all departing appointees of council-appointed advisory 
bodies. The city clerk shall prepare and maintain standard questions for the committee’s use. 
Should the council not appoint an exit interview committee pursuant to this subsection, an exit 
questionnaire, approved by the city council, shall be provided to a departing appointee for their 
voluntary completion.  

 
8.5 Council Relations with Advisory Bodies. To avoid any undue influence on the city’s advisory 

bodies, and to prevent unauthorized or misrepresented communications between the council 
and advisory bodies, council members are prohibited from attending any meeting of the city’s 
advisory bodies in an official capacity unless specifically authorized to attend by a consensus of 

82 of 116



Page 21 of 21 
 

the city council. Further, council members are strongly encouraged to not attend any meeting of 
the city’s advisory bodies in an unofficial capacity. If a council member chooses to attend a 
meeting of any of the city’s advisory bodies in an unofficial capacity, he/she shall expressly state 
that he/she is attending and/or speaking in a personal capacity only and is in no way 
representing the opinions or position of the city council as a whole. 
 

9.0 PUBLIC COMMUNICATION & REPRESENTATION 
 
 Councilmembers who meet with, speak to, or otherwise appear before a community group or 

another governmental agency or representative must clearly state if his or her statement 
reflects their personal opinion or if it is the official stance of the city, or if this is the majority or 
minority opinion of the council.  
 

 When councilmembers represent the city or attend meetings in an official capacity as 
councilmember, they must support and advocate the official city position on an issue, not a 
personal viewpoint.  
 

 Once the city council has taken a position on an issue, all official city correspondence regarding 
the issue will reflect the council's adopted position.  
 

 City letterhead shall not be used for correspondence of councilmembers representing a 
dissenting point of view from an official council position.  
 

 As a matter of courtesy, letters to the editor, or other communication of a controversial nature, 
which do not express the majority opinion of the council, shall be distributed to the full council 
so that councilmembers may be made aware of the impending publication. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

83 of 116



Agenda Item 3  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  May 24, 2016  
 
SUBJECT:  COUNCIL ADOPTION OF A RESOLUTION ACKNOWLEDGING THE PUGET 

SOUND REGIONAL COUNCIL’S (PSRC) CONDITIONAL CERTIFICATION 
OF COVINGTON’S 2015-2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN. 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director                                          
                                       
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. PSRC Plan Review Report & Certification Recommendation, Feb 25, 2016 
2. Proposed Resolution Acknowledging PSRC’s Conditional Certification.  

 
PREPARED BY:  Ann Mueller, Senior Planner  
 
EXPLANATION: 
The Puget Sound Regional Council has conditionally certified Covington’s 2015-2035 
Comprehensive Plan.  Attachment 1 is a copy of PSRC’s review of Covington’s Comprehensive 
Plan and recommendation to conditionally certify the plan. Previously, Covington’s 
Comprehensive Plan had been fully certified by PSRC in 2012. 
 
The Growth Management Act (GMA) required the City of Covington to conduct a periodic 
update of the Comprehensive Plan to review and, if needed, revise the comprehensive plan to 
ensure compliance with any new amendments to the GMA and King County Countywide 
Planning Policies by June 30, 2015. There were delays in adoption of Covington’s 
Comprehensive Plan due to the need to change consultants midstream at the end of 2014.  The 
City of Covington City Council adopted the periodic update of the Comprehensive Plan on 
January 12, 2016, which was then forwarded to PSRC and the Washington State Department of 
Commerce.   
 
PSRC is authorized under state law to be a “regional transportation planning organization”.    
King County, Pierce County, Snohomish County and Kitsap County entered into an Interlocal 
Agreement in 1991, consistent with state law that requires a regional transportation planning 
organization to certify the consistency of all transportation provisions of city and county 
comprehensive plans.  The interlocal agreement states that the regional transportation plan and 
the regional growth management strategy are based on direction of state law and based on and 
developed from local comprehensive plans.  PSRC has expanded its role beyond transportation 
into full certification of comprehensive plans which is set forth in PSRC’s own manual.  PSRC 
indicates they will review local plans for “transportation certification” and also assess overall 
consistency with VISION 2040 as directed by their own Framework Plan.    
 
PSRC’s Certification Recommendation 
PSRC’s conditional status for Covington is in place until the city addresses the inconsistency 
between the anticipated growth planned for and included in the plan and the housing and 
employment growth targets adopted by King County. This will include the following: 

84 of 116



• Amend the plan to more fully recognize the objective of aligning with the 
Regional Growth Strategy, including the role of designated Small Cities and the 
objective to limit growth in those cities. 

• Adjust the plan’s anticipated housing and employment growth to more closely 
align with adopted countywide targets. It is recognized that the city’s ability to 
reduce planned growth levels may be limited by unavoidable factors, such as 
actual growth since the target base year and development in the pipeline. 

• Identify and prioritize strategies the city will take to manage growth and work 
toward better alignment with the Regional Growth Strategy and address more 
fully the impacts of planned growth on regional and local infrastructure and 
services and on the environment. 

 
Coordination with the county, state, other cities, and other agencies should also occur to more 
fully address the potential regional impacts of planned growth that exceeds agreed-upon targets. 
 
The city acknowledges this certification and commits to addressing the conditions according to 
the following the schedule: 

1. Council adoption of a plan of work that addresses the condition identified in the 
certification report by May 31, 2016. 
 
2. Submission of a draft amended comprehensive plan and supporting documents that 
address the condition to PSRC for review and comment in advance of adoption. 
 
3. Once the condition is adequately addressed, submission of the adopted amended 
comprehensive plan and supporting documents by December 31, 2017, for review and 
certification by PSRC. 

 
Next Steps and Discussion 
In order to meet condition #1 above staff has prepared a resolution, Attachment 2, to 
acknowledge the conditional certification and stating the city’s commitment over the next 
eighteen months to review the conditions of certification and areas of further work.  After 
review, if any actions or amendments to the comprehensive plan are determined to be necessary, 
they will be adopted by the end of 2017 and forwarded to PSRC.  
 
In the meantime, the city has requested that PSRC amend VISION 2040 to acknowledge 
Covington’s status as a “Larger City” consistent with the threshold spelled out in VISION 2040. 
Covington is by definition, today, a Larger City per VISION 2040. Covington has a combined 
population and employment of 23,273, which exceeds the 22,500 threshold required to be 
reclassified as a Larger City. Looking at the most recent population and job numbers, Covington 
is the only small city in King County exceeding that threshold.  The only other Small City in 
PSRC’s four county region exceeding that threshold is Sumner in Pierce County. It is staff’s 
understanding that Sumner applied for and was granted a regional designation with Pacific as a 
Manufacturing/Industrial Center at the same meeting Covington received conditional 
certification.  It should also be noted that Woodinville, which is currently classified as a Larger 
City has a combined population and job threshold of 23,703, just a few hundred higher than 
Covington.  PSRC responded to the city’s request for reclassification to a Larger City by stating 

85 of 116



such discussion was a topic that should be addressed in the next update of VISION 2040 
expected in 2018-2020.  That update is after the December 31, 2017, deadline to address the 
conditions specified by PSRC in their conditional certification, which does not help the city to 
address the issue of our anticipated growth not aligning with the King County growth targets 
adopted in 2009. This leaves the city in a quandary given the amount of effort that has been done 
by the city to evaluate and support our expected growth based on demand and capacity.  
 
The Covington community spent considerable time updating our Comprehensive Plan to 
preserve and improve the city’s existing character, protect our existing neighborhoods, increase 
the choice of housing type available, bring services and commercial uses to our community to 
reduce vehicle trips, and to improve our job/housing balance. Furthermore, we are planning for a 
more walkable and interconnected community with centers that include mixed-use development. 
The city has conducted market studies that have been shared with PSRC, King County and 
surrounding cities that demonstrate the demand and capacity for these uses in our community.  
 
In the next two years, Covington is committed to working with King County and the cities within 
the county to look at the allocation of job and housing targets, after the State Office of Financial 
Management (OFM) releases its next cycle of GMA population projections – a reasonable range 
of possible population growth for King County. OFM is expected to release those numbers in the 
first quarter of 2017, prior to PSRC’s final review of the city’s certification.  
 
After the release of the new OFM population projections, King County hopefully will coordinate 
with cities within the county to update their job and housing targets (which were intended to be a 
floor for local plans, not a ceiling, per King County and GMA).  City staff will be advocating for 
King County staff to accelerate their next round of the growth targets update process to happen 
in 2017.  
 
The efforts mentioned above will be in tandem with the review of PRSC’s conditions during 
2017.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Recommend amendments to the proposed resolution.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
Staff and consultant time will be necessary over the next two years to review and consider the 
PSRC conditions and evaluate any actions needed. Approximate costs range from $2,500 to 
$5,000 and should be covered by existing budget line items for consultant review.  
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance     X    Resolution         Motion         Other 
 

Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to adopt a resolution acknowledging PSRC’s Conditional 
Certification, in substantial form as that presented. 

 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager; Finance Director, City Attorney. 

86 of 116



PSRC Plan Review & Certification Recommendation 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan 

Page 1 of 11 

 PSRC PLAN REVIEW REPORT 
 & CERTIFICATION RECOMMENDATION 

CITY OF COVINGTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

February 25, 2016 

BACKGROUND 

A major emphasis of the Washington State Growth Management Act (GMA) is the need to coordinate local, 
regional, and state planning efforts. To advance this coordination, the Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC) is 
required to formally certify that regional transit plans, countywide planning policies, and local comprehensive 
plans within the central Puget Sound region conform to: (1) established regional guidelines and principles, (2) the 
adopted long-range regional transportation plan, and (3) transportation planning requirements in the Growth 
Management Act. Within the central Puget Sound region, the multicounty planning policies (MPPs) have been 
established as the regional guidelines and principles under Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 47.80.026. 
Certification of local plans and policies is also a requirement for jurisdictions and agencies that intend to apply for 
PSRC funding or proceed with any project submitted into the Regional Transportation Improvement Program, 
regardless of funding source. 

Within the central Puget Sound region, local governments and PSRC have worked together to develop an overall 
process (Adopted Policy and Plan Review Process, Revised September 2003) for reviewing and certifying local, 
countywide, regional, and transit agency policies and plans.1 This process also provides an opportunity to 
coordinate and share information related to local and regional planning.  A set of materials, compiled in a Plan 
Review Manual, provides details on the review and certification process, background, and framework. The 
manual also provides guidance and checklists for aligning plans and policies with VISION 2040, Transportation 
2040, and Growth Management Act requirements. 

DISCUSSION 

This report summarizes the findings and recommendations regarding the periodic update to the comprehensive 
plan for the City of Covington, adopted by the city on January 12, 2016. PSRC last certified the Covington 
comprehensive plan in 2012. PSRC staff reviewed the 2015 comprehensive plan and coordinated with city staff in 
the development of this report. 

CERTIFICATION RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the review of the City of Covington comprehensive plan, the following action is recommended to the 
PSRC Growth Management Policy Board, Transportation Policy Board, and Executive Board: 

The Puget Sound Regional Council conditionally certifies that the transportation-related 
provisions in the City of Covington 2015 comprehensive plan conform to the Growth 
Management Act and are consistent with multicounty planning policies and the regional 
transportation plan.  

1  The certification requirement in the Growth Management Act is described in RCW 47.80. The specific requirements for transportation 
elements in local comprehensive plans are spelled out in RCW 36.70A.070.  PSRC’s Interlocal Agreement, Section VII, also provides 
direction for the review of local comprehensive plans and countywide policies (Resolution A-91-01, amended March 1998).  The Council's 
Executive Board last updated its process for Policy and Plan Review in September 2003.  The process is also described in VISION 2040, 
Part IV:  Implementation. 

ATTACHMENT 1

87 of 116

http://www.psrc.org/assets/1715/process.pdf
http://www.psrc.org/growth/planreview/pr-manual/
http://www.psrc.org/growth/planreview/pr-manual/
http://www.psrc.org/growth/vision2040/pub/vision2040-document/
http://www.psrc.org/transportation/t2040/t2040-pubs/final-draft-transportation-2040/
http://www.psrc.org/transportation/t2040/t2040-pubs/final-draft-transportation-2040/
http://www.commerce.wa.gov/Services/localgovernment/GrowthManagement/Pages/LawsRules.aspx


PSRC Plan Review & Certification Recommendation 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan 

Page 2 of 11 

 

Conditional status is in place until the city addresses the inconsistency between the 
anticipated growth included in the plan and the housing and employment growth targets 
adopted by King County. This will include the following: 

 Amend the plan to more fully recognize the objective of aligning with the Regional 
Growth Strategy, including the role of designated Small Cities and the objective to 
limit growth in those cities. 

 Adjust the plan’s anticipated housing and employment growth to more closely align 
with adopted countywide targets. It is recognized that the city’s ability to reduce 
planned growth levels may be limited by unavoidable factors, such as actual growth 
since the target base year and development in the pipeline. 

 Identify and prioritize strategies the city will take to manage growth and work 
toward better alignment with the Regional Growth Strategy and address more fully 
the impacts of planned growth on regional and local infrastructure and services and 
on the environment.  

Coordination with the county, state, other cities, and other agencies should also occur to 
more fully address the potential regional impacts of planned growth that exceeds agreed-
upon targets. 

The city acknowledges this certification and commits to addressing the conditions according 
to the following the schedule: 

1. Council adoption of a plan of work that addresses the condition identified in the 
certification report by May 31, 2016. 

2. Submission of a draft amended comprehensive plan and supporting documents that 
address the condition to PSRC for review and comment in advance of adoption. 

3. Once the condition is adequately addressed, submission of the adopted amended 
comprehensive plan and supporting documents by December 31, 2017, for review 
and certification by PSRC. 

It is recognized that the city’s comprehensive plan is highly supportive of the goals and policies of VISION and 
that the city has already taken a number of steps to work towards implementing VISION 2040. It is also 
recognized that much of the development that the city anticipates occurring during this planning period was 
initiated through city actions in response to market interest prior to the adoption of the plan. The city has taken a 
number of positive steps to focus growth within compact mixed-use central areas, to promote and protect 
environmental sustainability, and to invest in infrastructure that improves the quality of life of its residents. 

The remainder of this report contains a summary of the PSRC review of the City of Covington comprehensive 
plan update. Under each heading, the scope of the certification review, as guided by the Plan Review Manual and 
Local Comprehensive Plan Checklist, is listed in high level bullets. Discussion in each topic area highlights 
exemplary provisions of the plan, as well as issues identified through the certification review where future work is 
needed to more fully address VISION 2040, Transportation 2040, or GMA planning requirements. 

  

88 of 116

http://www.psrc.org/growth/planreview/pr-manual/


PSRC Plan Review & Certification Recommendation 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan 

Page 3 of 11 

 

Part I: Conformity with Growth Management Act Transportation 

Planning Requirements  

SCOPE OF REVIEW 

The Growth Management Act (RCW 36.70A.070(6)) includes several requirements related to transportation 
elements in local comprehensive plans. These requirements are summarized as follows:    

Land use assumptions and forecasts of travel demand that are internally consistent and consistent with 
growth targets. 
Service and facility needs, including inventories of existing facilities, and level-of-service standards and 
concurrency provisions that address multiple modes of travel, planned land uses and densities, and state 
highways. 
Financing and investments, including a multiyear financing plan and reassessment strategy to address 
potential funding shortfalls. 
Intergovernmental coordination with neighboring cities, counties, and regional and state agencies. 
Demand management, including programs to implement the Commute Trip Reduction Act. 
Pedestrian and bicycle planning, including project funding and capital investments, education, and safety. 
Land uses adjacent to airports, identifying relevant facilities, existing and planned uses, and policies that 
discourage incompatible uses. 

Air quality is largely an interjurisdictional issue in which each jurisdiction's travel behaviors, measured through 
vehicle emissions, affect the regional airshed. The Washington Administrative Code (WAC) requires local 
transportation elements and plans to include "policies and provisions that promote the reduction of criteria 
pollutants" for mobile sources (WAC 173-420-080).  When PSRC reviews plans, it also certifies that the 
comprehensive plans include air quality policies and provisions, including a commitment to meeting the 
requirements of applicable federal and state air quality legislation. 

DISCUSSION: EXEMPLARY PLAN PROVISIONS 

The city’s comprehensive plan effectively addresses many of the transportation planning requirements of the 
Growth Management Act and includes adequate air quality policies and provisions. Highlights include: 

 The transportation element includes clear mapping of existing inventories and future transportation 
investments prioritized based on a layered network approach. Policies TR-17 to 22 promote non-
motorized transportation options in key locations and corridors in the city as integral elements of the 
city’s transportation system. 

 The plan sets clear multimodal level-of-service standards for auto, transit, bicycle, and pedestrian modes 
of transportation. Future facilities needs are identified to meet demand and prioritized as medium to high 
based on clear criteria. 

 The plan encourages land uses and densities that support increased transit use and explicitly supports 
transit oriented development in Policy T-28. 

 Policies T-31 to 33 further, at a high level, the important role of interjurisdictional coordination in 
managing and planning the transportation system, including coordination with neighboring jurisdictions, 
regional agencies to secure grant funding, develop facilities of joint benefit, address joint-impact fees, and 
provide service to newly annexed areas. 

DISCUSSION: CONDITIONS FOR CERTIFICATION 

The certification conditions are discussed in detail under the Development Patterns section regarding consistency 
between the growth expectation of the comprehensive plan, growth targets, and the Regional Growth Strategy. 
The estimate of demand for new infrastructure and transportation projects should be reviewed and revised as 

89 of 116



PSRC Plan Review & Certification Recommendation 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan 

Page 4 of 11 

 

necessary to ensure the plan maintains internal consistency given any reassessment of planned growth. Where 
higher levels of growth are unavoidable, the city should emphasize and prioritize transportation actions that help 
to mitigate the impacts of that growth, including supporting walkable environments and improving transit. 

DISCUSSION: AREAS FOR FURTHER WORK 

The city should address the following comment at the earliest opportunity through future amendments to the 
comprehensive plan, subarea plans, or functional plans: 

□ Policy T-19 calls for the city to “develop a Non-Motorized Plan when funding becomes available that 
provides guidance on street design guidelines, trail standards, and bicycle and pedestrian priority routes.” 
Building on the sound planning for nonmotorized transportation in the comprehensive plan, this is an 
important step in implementation and could help to mitigate increases in traffic associated with growth. 
This would be appropriate work to prioritize for early completion. 

Part II:  Consistency with Regional Plans and Policies 

OVERVIEW 

This section discusses consistency with the adopted multicounty planning policies (established regional guidelines 
and principles under RCW 47.80.026) adopted in VISION 2040, and Transportation 2040, the region’s long-range 
transportation plan. In addition to the Multicounty Planning Policies, VISION 2040 contains a Regional Growth 
Strategy with a preferred distribution of the region’s residential and employment growth, as well as a number of 
implementation actions for local governments to carry out. Each policy area addressed in VISION 2040 is 
discussed in turn below. 

VISION 2040 CONTEXT STATEMENT 

VISION 2040 calls for local plans to include a context statement that describes how the comprehensive plan 
addresses regional policies and provisions adopted in VISION 2040. The plan includes a Regional Planning 
Statement that describes how the plan addresses regional policies and provisions adopted in VISION 2040. The 
city should review and revise the Regional Planning Statement, as needed, to address conditions described in 
detail in the Development Patterns section of this report. 

Environment 

SCOPE OF REVIEW 

VISION 2040 calls for local comprehensive plans to address the following environmental policy topics:    
Stewardship, including addressing the natural environment throughout the plan, decisions based on best-
available science, and regional environmental initiatives. 
Earth and habitat, including open space protection, restoration and protection of native vegetation, and 
coordination with adjacent jurisdictions. 
Water quality, including actions that maintain hydrologic functions and reduce water pollution in 
ecosystems, watersheds, shorelines, and estuaries.  
Air quality and climate change, addressing federal and state laws, reduction of pollutants, Puget Sound 
Clean Air Agency policies, and reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and adaptation to climate change. 

DISCUSSION: EXEMPLARY PLAN PROVISIONS 

The city’s comprehensive plan effectively addresses the environmental policy topics in VISION 2040 with strong 
goals and actionable policies. Highlights include: 

90 of 116



PSRC Plan Review & Certification Recommendation 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan 

Page 5 of 11 

 

 The plan includes an optional natural environment element, which includes strong policies that promote a 
wide range of policies and actions that enhance environmental sustainability in the areas of water quality, 
hydrologic function, wildlife habitat, and air quality.  

 Policies NE-6 to 9 advance a comprehensive approach to promoting urban forests and tree cover, 
including through tree retention, native plantings, and requirements for public and private lands. 

 Policies NE-15 to 22 notably promote low-impact development and best practices in stormwater 
management.  

 Policies NE-11 and 12, along with CF-42 and 43, address public and private energy efficiency as a means 
to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Land use policies that promote compact mixed-use development and 
transportation strategies to promote alternative to travel by single-occupancy vehicle also contribute to 
mitigating the impact of the plan on climate change. 

DISCUSSION: AREAS FOR FURTHER WORK 

The certification review did not identify any major areas for improvement of the plan to better align with regional 
guidelines and principles on environment. 

Development Patterns – Including the Regional Growth Strategy 

SCOPE OF REVIEW 

VISION 2040 calls for local comprehensive plans to address the following development patterns policy topics:    
Urban areas, including targets for housing and employment growth, compact communities that support 
transit and walking, and provisions for redevelopment of underused land. 
Centers, including planning for one or more central places as locations for compact, mixed-use development, 
with policies that prioritize funding to centers to advance development. 
Unincorporated urban areas, including policies that advance annexation and orderly transition of 
governance. 
Resource lands, including identification of steps to limit development. 
Regional design, addressing local provisions that apply the Transportation 2040 Physical Design Guidelines, 
energy efficient building, historic preservation, and enhanced sense of community. 
Health and active living, addressing healthy environment, physical activity and well-being, and safety. 

DISCUSSION: EXEMPLARY PLAN PROVISIONS 

The city’s comprehensive plan effectively addresses the development patterns policies in VISION 2040. 
Highlights include: 

 The plan evidences strong support for compact development within identified central places. Goals III, 
IV, and V set high level priorities for focusing growth within downtown Covington and the Lakepointe 
master planned development. Policies LU-27 to LU-35 support a gradual evolution of the existing auto-
oriented downtown to include multistory mixed use, pedestrian orientation, civic uses and gathering 
spaces, and a variety of employment and housing opportunities. Policies LU-36 to LU-42 further a vision 
for the Lakepointe Urban Village that emphasizes a variety of housing choices, integrated with open 
spaces, trails, and other public amenities. 

 Policy LU-6 encourages green and low impact development that avoids impacting critical areas and 
achieves environmental and public health benefits from low-impact stormwater strategies, renewable 
energy systems, urban forests, and support for nonmotorized travel and transit. 

 Policy LU-7 encourages efficient use of infrastructure by directing growth to sites for infill and 
redevelopment that are already served by existing systems and facilities. 

91 of 116



PSRC Plan Review & Certification Recommendation 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan 

Page 6 of 11 

 

 The Action Plan in Exhibit LU-15 addresses next steps by multiple departments to advance public realm 
improvements that improve livability and support development objectives with a focus on urban  design, 
open space, and opportunities for active transportation. 

 The plan has a specific Framework Goal to promote safety and well-being by creating opportunities for 
access to a variety of food venues, community services, and active recreation that make healthy choices 
easy choices.  There are policies in several elements (e.g., land use, housing, transporation) that promote 
walkability, increased safety, and active living as well as improved access to healthy food choices. 

DISCUSSION: CONDITIONS FOR CERTIFICATION 

Covington must address the following provision of the Growth Management Act and VISION 2040 in order to 
maintain certified status: 

□ RCW 36.70A.130 requires that local comprehensive plan updates accommodate the growth projected to 
occur over the subsequent 20-year period. VISION 2040 (MPP-DP-3) calls for countywide adoption of 
housing and employment growth targets that promote the Regional Growth Strategy. MPP-T-9 calls for 
coordination of state, regional, and local transportation planning in support of that strategy. RCW 
36.70A.070 requires the transportation element of local comprehensive plans to implement and be 
consistent with the land use element.  
To implement the Regional Growth Strategy, King County and its cities developed housing and 
employment targets for the 2006-2031 period. The targets allocate a modest amount of housing and jobs 
to Small Cities, which includes the City of Covington, as a reflection of the stated regional role for these 
cities to accommodate limited growth. The targets for Covington are to grow by 1,470 housing units and 
1,320 jobs over the period of 2006-2031. Extended to the plan horizon year of 2035, targeted growth is 
1,705 housing units and 1,531 jobs. 
Background 
The Covington comprehensive plan, Toward Planning Greatness: Comprehensive Plan 2015-2035, 
establishes a long range vision for how the city will accommodate growth and is largely consistent with 
the Growth Management Act and VISION 2040. However, the plan as adopted supports an amount of 
residential and employment growth that is more than double the city’s remaining housing target and 
nearly ten times the city’s remaining jobs target. Because this level of growth is a departure from 
implementation of the Regional Growth Strategy, it raises concerns about impacts to the regional 
transportation plan.  
The table below summarizes the city’s adopted growth targets, actual growth that occurred since the 
target base year, and remaining growth targets for the planning period. In comparison, the table also 
shows planned growth in the Covington comprehensive plan and information on growth anticipated from 
projects in the development pipeline. 
 
                                     

  

92 of 116



PSRC Plan Review & Certification Recommendation 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan 

Page 7 of 11 

 

                                    Growth Statistics for Covington 

 Housing Jobs 

Growth Targets 2006-2035 1,705 1,531 

Actual Growth 2006-2012 163 1,148 

Remaining Target to 2035 1,542 383 

Development in Pipeline 622 514 

Lakepointe Capacity 1,500 1,889 

Additional Capacity in City 2,164 2,093 

Total Capacity (2012) 4,286 4,496 

Planned Growth 2012-2035 3,920 3,706 

 
The plan describes several local factors which provide important context to explain why the city has 
chosen to plan for this level of growth. First, the city has progressed substantially toward achieving its 
growth targets through actual growth since 2006. With growth anticipated through completion of projects 
in the development pipeline, the city will exceed its employment target. Assuming full buildout of the 
Lakepointe Urban Village master planned development within the planning period, the city would exceed 
its housing target as well. Above and beyond the project-based data, the city is assuming market demand, 
based on analysis completed by Berk Associates in 2012, for even more growth accommodated on 
existing zoned capacity elsewhere in the city, including in its downtown. 
PSRC staff has had extensive discussions with staff from the City of Covington regarding these factors 
along with many of the policies and actions the city has adopted to manage its growth. The city has 
provided a letter to PSRC, dated February 22, 2016, summarizing its perspective on these factors and 
actions. 
Conditions 
In order to further address the significant inconsistency between the city’s planned growth and the 
adopted targets, the following conditions need to be addressed:  
Clarify policy support for the Regional Growth Strategy. The plan currently includes a Statement of 
Consistency that acknowledges the  Regional Growth Strategy, including the role of designated Small 
Cities and the objective to limit growth in those cities. The plan should be amended to state more clearly 
that the city intends to explore and implement, where feasible, strategies to shape the amount or timing of 
growth to better align with the growth targets and with VISION 2040. 
Update and adjust growth assumptions. The city should consider a reassessment of growth potential 
within the 20-year planning period based on current data, regional and countywide policies, and local 
actions taken to influence the amount or timing of future development. As called for in Policy LU-3, the 
city may work with King County to adjust the growth targets, while maintaining consistency with the 
Regional Growth Strategy.  
Manage long-term growth to address impacts and to better align with VISION 2040. The city should 
identify and pursue available strategies to help bend the trend of  growth rates to more closely align with 
the adopted growth targets. The city’s ability to reduce the rate of growth may be limited by unavoidable 
factors, such as entitlement of additional residential and commercial growth in the development pipeline. 
Other plan elements, including transportation, should be updated to reflect revisions to planned amounts 
of growth.  
To the extent unavoidable growth in the city significantly exceeds agreed upon growth targets, 
coordinated action to provide urban infrastructure and services is even more important. The plan, as 

93 of 116



PSRC Plan Review & Certification Recommendation 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan 

Page 8 of 11 

 

adopted, addresses many relevant areas of ongoing work, including impact fees and expanded transit 
service. The city should explore whether further  work is necessary to ensure adequate infrastructure and 
services to support and mitigate the impacts of anticipated growth. 

DISCUSSION: AREAS FOR FURTHER WORK 

The city should address the following comment at the earliest opportunity through future amendments to the 
comprehensive plan, subarea plans, or functional plans: 

□ VISION 2040 (see MPP-DP-1) promotes a framework to ensure the “long term stability and sustainability 
of the urban growth area” (UGA). MPP-G-1 calls for coordinated planning among agencies around issues 
of regional significance. The draft comprehensive plan (see Policy LU-20) supports expansion of the 
urban growth area adjacent to the City of Covington in order to “correct illogical boundary lines” through 
coordination with King County and the countywide planning policies. Absent a demonstrated need for 
countywide capacity, as described in those policies, the proposed UGA expansion may not be appropriate 
and the city should consider amending the plan to revise or remove Policy LU-20. 

Housing   

SCOPE OF REVIEW 

VISION 2040 calls for local comprehensive plans to address the following housing policy topics:    
Increased housing production opportunities, including diverse types and styles for all income levels and 
demographic groups. 
Affordable housing needs, including an assessment of existing and future housing needs based on regional 
and local factors, including household income, demographics, special needs populations, and adequacy of 
existing housing stocks. 
Regional housing objectives in VISION 2040, including promotion of housing diversity and affordability, 
jobs-housing balance, housing in centers, and flexible standards and innovative techniques. 

DISCUSSION: EXEMPLARY PLAN PROVISIONS 

The city’s comprehensive plan effectively addresses the housing provisions in VISION 2040. Highlights include:  

 The housing element addresses broadly many facets of future housing need. Existing conditions data, 
presented in a supplementary chapter, provide a rich basis for policies and actions to address those needs. 
The analysis shows gaps between the existing housing stock and current and future demand for affordable 
housing, including senior housing and housing that meets the needs of the local workforce. While the 
housing element could be more explicit in addressing the city’s role in meeting the countywide need for 
affordable housing set forth in the countywide planning policies, the element as a whole is responsive to 
that goal. 

 The plan provides for a much greater variety of housing types to meet needs of current and future 
residents than currently is represented in the predominantly single-family ownership housing stock in the 
city. Policy HO-2 promotes strategies to add to the housing choices in Covington units in multifamily and 
mixed use projects, small lot single family, accessory dwelling units, and innovative housing types, such 
as cottage housing. 

 One key focus of the housing element is meeting the needs of seniors and people with disabilities. Policy 
HO-4 supports new development that would allow more local residents to age in place and with 
appropriate supported housing. 

 Policy HO-12 calls for implementation of a range of actions under the human services master plan in 
order to provide support low-income, disabled, and senior residents.  

 HO-1 encourages housing that accrues many of the benefits of transit-oriented development, including 
reduced transportation costs, a lively public realm, and opportunities for active transportation. 

94 of 116



PSRC Plan Review & Certification Recommendation 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan 

Page 9 of 11 

 

 The housing action plan includes consideration of changes to code to encourage green building, universal 
design, and active living. 

DISCUSSION: AREAS FOR FURTHER WORK 

The certification review did not identify any major areas for improvement of the plan to better align with regional 
guidelines and principles on housing. 

Economy  

SCOPE OF REVIEW 

VISION 2040 calls for local comprehensive plans to address the following economic development policy topics:    
Include an economic development element that addresses business, people, and places. 
Retention and recruitment efforts that support family wage jobs, industry clusters that export goods and 
services, and small businesses that are locally owned. 
Equitable benefits and impacts, including provisions and programs that promote economic vitality in 
distressed areas or areas with disadvantaged populations.  
Adequate housing growth in centers through collaboration with the private sector and through the provision 
of infrastructure. 

DISCUSSION: EXEMPLARY PLAN PROVISIONS 

The city’s comprehensive plan effectively addresses many of the economic provisions of VISION 2040. 
Highlights include:  

 An economic development element sets clear goals, policies, and actionable strategies intended to 
diversify the local economy, support a sufficient tax base to expand local services, and provide expanded 
choices for local employment.  

 Part of the city’s economic strategy focuses on bolstering local capture of the health care sector 
employment growth, leveraging recent development of medical office and clinic facilities in the city. 

 The plan employs place-based strategies to focus employment within new and developing mixed-use 
centers, including within downtown Covington and the Lakepointe Urban Village area. 

DISCUSSION: AREAS FOR FURTHER WORK 

The certification review did not identify any additional areas for improvement of the plan to better align with 
regional guidelines and principles on the economy. 

Transportation   

SCOPE OF REVIEW 

VISION 2040 and Transportation 2040 call for local comprehensive plans to address the following transportation 
policy topics:    

Maintenance, management, and safety, including clean transportation with reductions in pollution and 
greenhouse gas emissions, environmental factors, health and safety, stable and predictable funding sources, 
system and demand management strategies, and security and emergency response. 
Support for the Regional Growth Strategy, including system improvements that align with planned growth, 
prioritized investments that support compact development in centers, joint- and mixed-use development, 
complete streets and improvements to promote biking and walking, and context-sensitive design. 
Improved transportation options and mobility, including alternatives to driving alone, facilities and 
services for special needs transportation, avoidance of new or expanded facilities in rural areas, and financing 
methods.  

95 of 116



PSRC Plan Review & Certification Recommendation 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan 

Page 10 of 11 

 

Linking land use and transportation, including integrating Transportation 2040 physical design guidelines 
in planning for centers and transit station areas, and land development tools that promote transportation 
alternatives. 

DISCUSSION: EXEMPLARY PLAN  PROVISIONS 

The city’s comprehensive plan effectively addresses the major transportation emphases in VISION 2040 and 
Transportation 2040, including maintenance, management, and safety; support for the Regional Growth Strategy; 
and providing greater options and mobility. Highlights include: 

 The capital facilities appendix to the plan includes a comprehensive financing plan for public 
improvements needed through the year 2035. The plan shows planned projects with costs and estimated 
revenues that may be expected to fund those improvements. With a significant gap between revenues and 
costs, the plan identifies several potential revenue-boosting strategies along with a contingency plan that 
includes possibly revising level-of-service standards and/or the land use plan. 

 The plan broadly promotes land uses and urban design that align with the existing and planned 
transportation system, such as through Policy LU-11 requiring that new development include features that 
support multiple modes of travel. 

 The concept of ultimate capacity as applied to SR 516 makes clear a baseline for managing demand once 
improvements are complete on widening of the corridor to 5 lanes, thus encouraging demand 
management strategies, including transit, land use and design strategies, and interjurisdictional 
coordination to effectively manage the corridor in the future. 

 The pedestrian and bicycle components of the plan work toward full integration with the regional trail 
network, with dual emphases on mobility benefits and health, recreation, and active living benefits. 

DISCUSSION: AREAS FOR FURTHER WORK 

The certification review did not identify any additional areas for improvement of the plan to better align with 
regional guidelines and principles on transportation. 

Public Services  

SCOPE OF REVIEW 

VISION 2040 calls for local comprehensive plans to address the following public services policy topics:    
Promote more efficient use of existing services, such as waste management, energy, and water supply, 
through conservation – including demand management programs and strategies. 
Promote renewable energy and alternative energy sources. 
Plan for long-term water needs, including conservation, reclamation and reuse. 

DISCUSSION: EXEMPLARY PLAN PROVISIONS 

The city’s comprehensive plan effectively addresses the public services provisions of VISION 2040. Highlights 
include:  

 The plan promotes energy conservation related to public and private uses. Policies CF-41 and 44 address 
energy-efficient fixtures and street lighting. Policy CF-43 provides broad support for using sustainable 
energy sources as a means to mitigate climate change. 

 The plan addresses water supply efficiencies through policies that promote sustainable water use (CF-37) 
and reuse (CF-41). 

DISCUSSION: AREAS FOR FURTHER WORK 

The certification review did not identify any major areas for improvement of the plan to better align with regional 
guidelines and principles on public services. 

96 of 116



PSRC Plan Review & Certification Recommendation 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan 

Page 11 of 11 

 

Conclusion 
PSRC staff thank the jurisdiction for working through the plan review process.  PSRC is available to provide 
assistance for future plan updates and additional planning resources can also be found at 
http://www.psrc.org/growth/planreview/resources/. If the city has questions or needs additional information, 
please contact Michael Hubner at 206-971-3289 or mhubner@psrc.org. 

97 of 116

http://www.psrc.org/growth/planreview/resources/
mailto:mhubner@psrc.org


RESOLUTION NO. 2016-09 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
ACKNOWLEDGING THE PUGET SOUND REGIONAL 
COUNCIL’S CONDITIONAL CERTIFICATION OF 
COVINGTON’S COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 2015-2035 AND 
STATING THE CITY’S INTENT TO ADDRESS THE 
COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS OF THE PUGET SOUND 
REGIONAL COUNCIL AND PROVIDE A RESPONSE BY 
DECEMBER 31, 2017. 

WHEREAS, the City of Covington (the “City”) completed a major periodic 
comprehensive plan update as required by the Washington State Growth Management Act 
(GMA) by adopting Covington’s Comprehensive Plan 2015-2035 (the “Comprehensive Plan”) 
on January 12, 2016; and  

WHEREAS, the periodic update of Covington’s Comprehensive Plan was reviewed by 
state and regional agencies pursuant to applicable state and local laws and policies; and  

WHEREAS, on February 25, 2016, the Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC) issued a 
Plan Review Report and Certification Recommendation for Covington’s Comprehensive Plan; 
and 

WHEREAS, on April 28, 2016, PSRC’s Executive Board conditionally certified 
Covington’s Comprehensive Plan with the requirement that the City address the inconsistency 
between the projected housing and employment growth numbers incorporated within the 
Comprehensive Plan, based upon a market demand study conducted by the city in 2014, and the 
housing and employment growth targets for Covington adopted by King County; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council recognizes the importance of aligning the City’s growth 
with the Regional Growth Strategy adopted by VISION 2040; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Covington, 
King County, Washington, as follows: 

Section 1.  The City Council directs staff to work with the State Office of Financial 
Management (OFM), PSRC, King County and other cities within King County to accelerate the 
expected update of King County’s growth targets after OFM issues their next five-year update 
cycle for GMA population projections for King County in 2017. 

Section 2.  The City Council directs staff to coordinate with King County, other cities 
within King County, and PSRC, as appropriate for Covington, to address the conditions listed for 
Covington in the conditional certification as described in PSRC’s February 25, 2016, 
Certification Report.  

ATTACHMENT 2

98 of 116



Section 3. The City council directs staff to work with PSRC on the update of VISION 
2040 policies and amend Covington’s city designation in VISION 2040 to that of a Larger City. 

 
Section 4.  The City Council directs staff to review the Comprehensive Plan with the 

Planning Commission during the next twelve months and, if appropriate, bring back to the 
council recommended amendments to the Comprehensive Plan to more fully address PSRC’s 
Regional Growth Strategy; adjust the anticipated housing and employment targets within the 
Comprehensive Plan to more closely align with adopted countywide targets; and identify and 
prioritize strategies the City will take to manage projected growth in Covington.    
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City is committed to considering these conditions and 
responding back the PSRC by Dec 31, 2017.  
 
 ADOPTED in open and regular session on this 24th day of May 2016 and signed in 
authentication thereof. 
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
                  Jeff Wagner, Mayor 

 
ATTESTED: 
 
_____________________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 
 
_____________________________________ 
Sara Springer, City Attorney 

99 of 116



Agenda Item 4  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: May 24, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  2016 FIRST QUARTER FINANCIAL REPORTS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S):   

1. 2016 First Quarter Report 
2. Quarterly Performance Reports by Fund 
3. Major Revenue Comparison   
4. Current Investment Listing 

 
PREPARED BY:   
Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
It is the policy of the City and a requirement of state law (RCW 35A.34.240) to provide financial 
reports to the governing body on a quarterly basis.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
N/A 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
None. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:           Ordinance            Resolution  _____Motion       X    Other 
 

ASK QUESTIONS OF STAFF  
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager 

100 of 116



ATTACHMENT 1

101 of 116



102 of 116



103 of 116



104 of 116



105 of 116



106 of 116



107 of 116



ATTACHMENT 2

108 of 116



109 of 116



110 of 116



111 of 116



ATTACHMENT 3

112 of 116



ATTACHMENT 4

113 of 116



  
Covington City Council Meeting 

           Date:  May 24, 2016 

 
 

DISCUSSION OF  
FUTURE AGENDA TOPICS: 

 
 

6:00 p.m., Tuesday, June 14, 2016 
 Special Meeting – Study Session  

 
7:00 p.m., Tuesday, June 14, 2016 

 Regular Meeting 
 
 
 

(Draft Agendas Attached) 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

114 of 116



 
 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA 

CITY COUNCIL STUDY SESSION 
Council Chambers – 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
 

Tuesday, June 14, 2016 – 6:00 p.m. 
                                                                         
GENERAL INFORMATION: 
The study session is an informal meeting involving discussion between and among the City Council, 
Commissioners, and city staff regarding policy issues.  Study sessions may involve presentations, 
feedback, brainstorming, etc., regarding further work to be done by the staff on key policy matters. 
 
CALL CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
ITEM(S) FOR DISCUSSION 
1. Review Candidates and Consider Selection of Final Candidates to Interview for Appointment 

to City Council Position No. 6 (Springer) 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

• To Evaluate the Qualifications of Candidates for Appointment to Elective Office Pursuant 
to RCW 42.30.1110(1)(h) 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per 
speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 
 

Draft 
as of 05/20/16 

 

115 of 116

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/


 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
 
Tuesday, June 14, 2016                                                                                                        City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                                            16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
Note:  A Study Session is scheduled from 6:00 to 7:00 p.m. 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
  
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION - NONE 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per 
speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  April 26, 2016 Regular Meeting; May 10, 2016 Special Meeting – Joint Study Session; 

May 10, 2016 Regular Meeting; and May 24, 2016 Regular Meeting (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson) 
C-3. Consider Comcast Franchise Agreement Renewal (Hendrickson) 
 
CONTINUED BUSINESS 
1. Continue Discussion on Council Ethics Policy (Springer) 
2. Consider Acceptance of City-wide Safety Improvement Project (Vondran) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
3. Consider Ordinance Adopting Permanent Zoning Regulations for Marijuana (Hart) 
4. Discuss and Provide Direction for King County Community Van Program (Hart) 
5. Discuss and Approve Survey Questions (Slate) 
6. Naming of Jenkins Creek Park Pedestrian Bridge(s) (Newton) 
7. Consider Appointment to Open City Council Position (Council) 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – if needed 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 

Draft 
as of 05/20/16 

 

116 of 116

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/

	05-24-2016 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Tuesday, May 24, 2016                                                                                                        City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	PUBLIC COMMUNICATION

	Consent C-1 Green Sheet 05-24-2016 Voucher Green Sheet
	Consent Agenda Item C-1

	Consent C-1 Attachments
	Consent C-2 Green Sheet 05-24-16 AWC Voting Delegates Blue Sheet
	Consent Agenda Item C-2

	Consent C-3 Green Sheet Blue Sheet 05-24-16 Ditching-Shouldering Agreement
	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 Bid Tabs - All Contractors
	All Bids

	Consent C-3 Attachment 2 Agreement for Services - Nordvind Sewer
	CITY OF COVINGTON
	AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES
	RECITALS:
	City of Covington
	CITY OF COVINGTON
	By: Regan Bolli
	By: Eric Peterson

	Consent C-4 Green Sheet Blue Sheet David Clark Agreement
	Consent Agenda Item C-4

	Consent C-4 Attachment 1 CAG 1432-15
	Consent C-4 Attachment 2 Contract Amendment for Construction Administration
	CITY OF COVINGTON    CONTRACTOR        David A Clark Architects, PLLC
	By: Regan Bolli     By:

	Consent C-4 Attachment 2 Exhibit 1 Aquatics Center Proposal CA only 091515
	Consent C-5 Green Sheet Blue Sheet Skate Board Park Equipment and Installation v2
	Consent Agenda Item C-5

	Consent C-5 Attachment 1 Design 2016-03-16 (003)
	Item 1 Blue Sheet 05-24-16 6 Yr TIP Public Hearing Blue Sheet
	Agenda Item 1

	Item 1 Attachment 1 - LONG RANGE PLAN 2017-2022_BL_Revised 05172016_DRAFT
	Item 1 Attachment 2 - 6_Year_TIP_2017-2022
	Item 1 Attachment 3 - 2017 - 2022 Project Descriptions_DV_Revised 05122016_DRAF...
	Item 2 Blue Sheet BS_Cont Discussion Council Rules_24MAY2016AGENDA
	Item 2 Attachment 1 DRAFT_Council ROP_24MAY2016 Packet_v3
	1.0 AUTHORITY & EFFECT OF RULES
	1.1 Rules Established.
	1.2 Suspension of Rules.
	1.3 Review & Amendment of Rules.
	1.4 Effect/Waiver of Rules.
	2.0 CITY COUNCIL: GENERAL POWERS & RESPONSIBILITIES
	2.1 Overview
	2.2 Council and Administration
	2.3 Authority and Responsibilities of the City Council
	2.3.1 Establish Policy.
	2.3.2 Enact Local Laws.
	2.3.3 Appointments and Supervise Officials.
	2.3.4 Provide Public Leadership

	2.4 ADDITIONAL RULES, POLICIES, & PROCEDURES
	2.4.1 City Officials’ Code of Ethics
	2.4.2 Public Records Policy
	2.4.3 Technology Use Policy
	2.4.4 Travel Policy (as provided for in the Employee Handbook)
	2.4.5 Vehicle Use Policy (as provided for in the Employee Handbook)

	3.0 CITY COUNCIL: ROLES & ADMINISTRATION
	3.1 Role of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem
	3.1.1 Mayor
	3.1.2 Mayor Pro Tem. In the mayor’s absence, the mayor pro tem assumes all of the above noted responsibilities and rights of the mayor.

	3.2 Election of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem
	3.2.1 The council shall elect a mayor and mayor pro tem for a term of two (2) years and shall remain in office until the next election of a mayor and/or mayor pro tem, unless earlier removed or vacated.
	3.2.2 The motion to elect the mayor and mayor pro tem will be placed on the agenda of the first council meeting of even-numbered years.
	3.2.3 Nomination and Appointment Process.
	3.2.4 Removal. A supermajority vote (5) shall be required to approve a motion to remove the mayor or mayor pro tem from office for cause.
	3.2.5 Temporary Absence. In the temporary absence of the mayor, the mayor pro tem shall perform the duties and responsibilities of the mayor with regard to conduct of meetings and emergency business.
	3.2.6 Permanent Vacancy. In the event the mayor or mayor pro tem is unable to serve the remainder of the term or resigns, the city council shall appoint a new mayor or mayor pro tem following the same procedure in this section.

	3.3 Swearing-In Newly Elected Council Members
	3.4 Filling a Council Vacancy.
	3.4.1 Resignation Process. A written resignation must be submitted to the city council.
	3.4.2 Procedure. If a vacancy occurs in the office of a councilmember, the council will follow the procedures outlined in RCW 42.12.070 in addition to those included in these Rules.
	3.4.3 Vacancy Notice and Application. In order to fill the vacancy with the most qualified person available until an election is held, the council will widely distribute and publish a notice of the vacancy, the procedure by which the vacancy will be f...
	3.4.4 Interview Process. Those candidates selected by council will be interviewed by the council during a regular or special council meeting open to the public. The order of the interviews will be determined by drawing the names; in order to make the ...
	3.4.5 Deliberation and Selection. The council may recess into executive session to discuss the qualifications of all candidates. Nominations, voting and selection of a person to fill the vacancy will be conducted during an open public meeting.

	3.5 Council Committees.
	3.5.1 Committee of the Whole. In addition to regular council meetings, the entire council may meet for study or special project purposes as a Committee of the Whole. A meeting of the council as Committee of the Whole must have a quorum of council memb...
	3.5.2 Council Committees. The city council may establish standing committees of three (3) or fewer council members as policy review and discussion arms of the city council as a whole for any special purpose, task, or time frame. Council committees may...

	3.6 Council Member Appointments.
	3.6.1 To Council Advisory Bodies. The city council may appoint three (3) or fewer council members to represent the city council as a whole on city advisory bodies.
	3.6.2 Liaison/Representative Appointments. The city council may appoint individual council members, as required, to represent the city council as a whole to external advisory bodies or groups.

	4.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: TYPES; GENERAL PROVISIONS
	4.1 Open Public Meetings Act.
	4.2 Types of Council Meetings.
	4.2.1 Regular Council Meetings. The council shall hold regular meetings on the second and fourth Tuesday of each month. The council will not hold meetings on any other day of the month, unless otherwise noticed. All regular meetings will begin at 7:00...
	4.2.2 Special Meetings. Any council meeting other than the regular council meeting. Notice of special meetings shall be given pursuant to state law (at least 24 hours in advance). The mayor, or in the absence of the mayor the mayor pro tem, or any thr...
	4.2.3 Study Sessions / Workshops. Any meeting, either called as a special meeting at which the council may discuss, investigate, review, or study matters of city business with city staff for informational purposes. Study sessions or workshops shall be...
	4.2.4 Annual Strategic Planning Summit. The council shall hold an annual strategic planning summit on the last Saturday in January of each year.
	4.2.5 Emergency Meetings. A special council meeting called without the 24hr notice. If, by reason of fire, flood, earthquake, or other emergency there is a need for expedited action by the council to meet the emergency, the mayor may provide for a mee...

	4.3 Meeting Place.
	4.4 Meeting Cancellation.
	4.5 Public Notice of Meetings.
	4.6 Quorum.
	4.7 Attendance, Excused Absences.
	4.7.1 RCW 35A.12.060 provides that a council member shall forfeit his or her office by failing to attend three (3) consecutive regular meetings of the council without being excused by the council. Members of the council may be so excused by complying ...
	4.7.2 The council member shall contact the mayor, mayor pro tem, city manager, or city clerk via either in person or via telephone or email prior to the start of the council meeting and state the reason for his or her inability to attend the meeting. ...
	4.7.3 The mayor, mayor pro tem, city manager, or city clerk shall convey the message to the council. Following roll call, the presiding officer shall inform the council of the member’s absence, and state the reason for such absence.
	4.7.4 A motion to excuse the council member shall be non-debatable. Upon passage of such motion by a majority of members present, the absent member shall be considered excused and the clerk will make an appropriate notation in the minutes.
	4.7.5 Council members shall only be required to be excused from regular council meetings and shall not be required to be excused from all other meetings of the council, including, but not limited to, study sessions, special meetings, council committee...

	4.8 Attendance of City Officers & Employees
	4.9 Executive Sessions.
	4.9.1 The council may hold executive sessions, from which the public may be excluded, for those purposes set forth in Chapter 42.30.110 RCW. Before convening to an executive session, the presiding officer shall announce the purpose of the session and ...
	4.9.2 If the council, after executive session, has provided direction or consensus to city staff on proposed terms and conditions for any confidential or privileged issue, all contact with any other party shall be made by the designated city staff rep...
	4.9.3 Pursuant to RCW 42.23.070, council members shall keep confidential all written materials and verbal information provided to them during executive sessions, to ensure that the city’s position is not compromised. Confidentiality also includes info...

	4.10 Adjournment
	4.11 Audio Recordings of Council Meetings
	4.12 Council Meeting Minutes.
	4.12.1 The city clerk, or designee, shall take minutes at all meetings of the city council in accordance with state and local statutory requirements.
	4.12.2 Proceedings will be entered into a minute book constituting the official record of the council.
	4.12.3 The minutes shall be made available for public inspection. Unless a council member requests a reading of the minutes of a council meeting, such minutes may be approved without reading if the clerk has previously furnished each member with a cop...
	4.12.4 City council meeting minutes may be corrected by the city clerk if in error, but shall not otherwise be revised without a majority affirmative vote of the whole council membership at a regularly scheduled council meeting.

	5.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: AGENDAS & CONDUCT OF BUSINESS
	5.1 Setting Agenda.
	5.2.1 A majority vote or consensus by the council;
	5.2.2 By the city manager; or
	5.2.3 Upon the joint request of two (2) or more council members, a proposed agenda item shall be placed under the Future Agenda Items of a regular council meeting agenda for the entire council to consider and discuss whether the item shall be included...
	5.2.4 A councilmember may not utilize city staff for the preparation of an item for the agenda without prior direction of the city manager.
	5.3.1 Legally required advertised public hearings will have a higher priority over other agenda items scheduled for convenience rather than for statutory or other reasons.
	5.3.2 Agenda items that are continued from one meeting to another will have preference on the agenda to the extent possible.
	5.6.1 have been previously discussed or policies have been set by the council; or
	5.6.2 are based on the information delivered to members of the council, by the administration, can be reviewed by a council member without further explanation; or
	5.6.3 are so routine or technical in nature that passage is likely.
	5.6.4 Ordinances, resolutions, and motions are all eligible to be placed on the consent calendar.
	5.6.5 The motion to adopt the consent calendar shall be non-debatable and have the effect of moving to adopt all items on the consent calendar. Since adoption of any item on the consent calendar implies unanimous consent, any member of the council sha...
	5.9.1 During regular meetings of the council, public comments will be invited during the public comment portion(s) of the agenda. The public is also invited at any time to provide written comment on any non-quasi-judicial or legislative matter. It is ...
	5.9.2 In addition, public oral testimony may be taken on other non-quasi-judicial or legislative matters as they arise during the course of the meeting agenda. However, once a motion is pending, debate is limited to council members and no further publ...
	5.9.3 Public comments should be limited to no more than four (4) minutes per person. No person may donate time to another person. If additional time is needed, a person may request that the council place an item on a future agenda as time allows.
	5.9.4 If many members of the public would like to comment on a particular topic, the presiding officer may encourage or require potential commenters to consolidate their comments and choose a limited number of spokespersons to speak on behalf of the g...
	5.9.5 Members of the public may not share or give speaking time to other commenters.
	5.9.6 The presiding officer may limit the total time for public comments and may, if many members of the public want to comment about a particular issue, continue the matter to another time.
	5.10.1 Legislative/Information Gathering Public Hearings
	5.10.2 Quasi-Judicial Public Hearings

	6.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURES
	6.2.1 Observe and enforce all rules adopted by the council;
	6.2.2 Call all meetings to order and keep to the order of business;
	6.2.3 Preserve order and decorum in the council chambers in accordance with these Rules;
	6.2.4 Recognize councilmembers in the order in which they request the floor, giving every councilmember who wishes an opportunity to speak, and control discussion in an orderly manner, require speakers to speak to the question; and
	6.2.5 Put motions to a vote and announce the outcome.
	6.2.6 The presiding officer may participate in all deliberations of the council in the same manner as any other members and is expected to vote in all proceedings, unless a conflict of interest exists. The presiding officer may not move an action, but...
	6.3.1 Motion Required. Prior to discussion of an action item, a councilmember should make a motion, which is seconded by another councilmember, on the topic under discussion. If the motion is not seconded, it dies.
	6.3.2 Request for Written Motions. Motions shall be reduced to writing when requested by the Presiding Officer or any member of the council.  All resolutions and ordinances shall be in writing.
	6.3.3 Discussion on Motion. After a motion has been made and seconded (if required), councilmembers may discuss their opinions on the issue prior to the vote. If they wish to do so, they may state why they will vote for or against the motion.
	6.3.4 Withdrawal of Motion. A motion may be withdrawn by the maker of the motion, at any time, without the consent of the council.
	6.3.5 Motion to Amend. A motion to amend is defined as amending a motion that is on the floor and has been seconded, by inserting or adding, striking out, striking out and inserting, or substituting. A motion to amend requires a second and a majority ...
	6.3.6 Motion to Table.
	6.3.7 Motion to Postpone to Time Certain.
	6.3.8 Motion to Postpone Indefinitely.
	6.3.9 Calling the Question.
	6.3.10 Motion for Reconsideration.
	6.3.11 Council Consensus. When the council concurs or agrees with an item that does not require a formal motion, the mayor will summarize the council's consensus at the conclusion of the discussion.
	6.4.1 Motion Restated. When the discussion is concluded, the presiding officer shall repeat the motion prior to voting. The city council votes on the motion as restated.
	6.4.2 Voice Vote. Unless otherwise provided for by statute, ordinance, resolution, or these Rules, all votes shall be taken by voice, except that at the request of any councilmember, a random roll call vote shall be taken by the city clerk.
	6.4.3 Declaring Motion Passes or Fails. If the vote is unanimous, the presiding officer shall state that the motion has been passed unanimously according to the number of councilmembers present, such as "7-0" or "6-0." If the vote is not unanimous, th...
	6.4.4 Tie Votes. In case of a tie vote on any motion, the motion shall be considered lost and fails.
	6.4.5 Abstention. Although it is the duty of each councilmember to vote on final action items, he or she cannot be compelled to vote, and thus he or she may abstain. The councilmember shall indicate their abstention to the presiding officer prior to a...
	6.4.6 Recusal. If a councilmember has a conflict of interest or an appearance of fairness question under state law, the councilmember may recuse themselves from the issue and shall leave the council chambers during discussion and voting on the issue. ...
	6.4.7 Silence. If a councilmember is silent on a vote (i.e. is present and does not abstain or recuse themselves pursuant to this section but also does not cast a vote for the motion), it shall be recorded as an affirmative vote.
	6.4.8 Proxy Votes. No vote may be cast by proxy.

	7.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: MISCELLANEOUS
	7.1.1 Councilmembers. While the council is in session, the members must preserve order and decorum, and a member shall neither, by conversation or otherwise, delay or interrupt the proceedings or the peace of the council, nor disrupt any member while ...
	7.1.2 Public. Any person making personal or slanderous remarks or who becomes disorderly while addressing the council or while in the council chamber while the council is in session shall be asked to leave by the Presiding Officer.

	8.0 CITY COUNCIL ADVISORY BODIES
	8.1.1 The city council may establish advisory bodies (including, but not limited to commissions, committees, boards, and task forces) by resolution or, if required by state statute, ordinance. The enacting resolution (or ordinance) will set forth the ...
	8.1.2 Limitations on Authority. All advisory bodies established by the city council are advisory to the city council and are not authorized to take independent action representing the city with other agencies or bodies.
	8.1.3 OPMA. All advisory bodies shall comply with the requirements of the Open Meetings Act (RCW Section 42.30).
	8.1.4 Dissolution. The council may dissolve any advisory body that, in their opinion, has completed its working function or for any other reason. Such dissolution shall be by resolution (or ordinance, if the body was originally established by ordinanc...
	8.2.1 Notice of Vacancies. Unless otherwise directed by the council, the city clerk’s office shall advertise notice of vacant positions on council advisory bodies so that any interested and qualified individual may submit an application.
	8.2.2 Applicant Requirements. Applicants are urged to be residents of the City of Covington, but applications from individuals living outside of the corporate boundaries of the city may be considered if authorized by the resolution or ordinance establ...
	8.2.3 Applicant Interviews and Appointment.

	9.0 PUBLIC COMMUNICATION & REPRESENTATION

	Item 3 Blue Sheet
	Agenda Item 3

	Item 3 Attachment 1 Covington-CompPlan-2015-Certification
	Item 3 Attachment 2 RES_PSRC Conditional Cert Comp Plan_24MAY2016AGENDA_SBSEDIT_CLEAN
	Item 4 Blue Sheet 5-24-16 First Qtr Report
	Agenda Item 4

	Item 4 Attachments 1-4 05-24-2016 Attachments 1-4
	Future Agenda Cover Sheet for Two Meetings
	06-14-2016 Special Meeting - Study Session to Interview Applicants for Council Position
	Tuesday, June 14, 2016 – 6:00 p.m.
	ROLL CALL
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	06-14-2016 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Tuesday, June 14, 2016                                                                                                        City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA




